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PRODUCTS  OF  THE  GROUP

Visi t  our  webpage at   www.asia-f i le .com  for  more product  updates

¥ Smooth Marble
¥ PVC Special Edition
¥ PVC Welded and Glued
¥ Embossed Marble

Lever Arch Files

Ring Files / Binders
¥ Clear View Presentation /
   Insert Binders
¥ PVC / Welded & Glued
¥ Coloured Board
¥ Standard / Embossed
¥ PVC Computer Files

Markers &Whiteboard
Accessories
¥ Whiteboard / Permanent Markers
¥ Whiteboard Erasers

Dividers
¥ Manilla Dividers
¥ Mylar Coated Dividers
¥ Polypropylene Dividers

¥ Inkjet Papers / Labels / Archive Boxes
¥ Paper Rolls, Computer Forms
¥ Envelopes

Paper Products

Clipfolders & Box Files
¥ Box Files
¥ Magazine Box Files / Holders
¥ Clipfolders / Clipboards

¥ Flat Files
¥ Pocket Files
¥ Fold Files

Manilla Files & Folders

¥ Strong & Heavy Duty
¥ Various choice of colours
¥ Easy to Assemble
¥ Available in Made Up or DIY

Magazine  Holders

¥ Trays
¥ Staplers
¥ Rubber Bands
¥ Paper Binders
¥ Scissors

¥ Fasteners
¥ Hole Punchers
¥ Name Badges
¥ Filing Pockets
¥ Book Jackets

Stationeries

¥ Sharpeners
¥ Binder Clips
¥ Memo Cassettes
¥ Staples
¥ Parcel Strings

Polypropylene Range
Of Products

¥ Star Files
¥ Docucases & Ring Boxes
¥ Ring Files
¥ Sheet Protectors / Clear
  Holder Refills

¥ Morr Files
¥ Presentations Files / Folders
¥ Clear Holders / Display Files
¥ Plastic Folders / Presentation
  Covers
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ASIA FILE PRODUCTS SDN BHD

(100%)

• Manufacturer of files and other

  stationery products.

• Focus mainly on overseas markets.

Subsidiaries & % Of Shareholdings

GROUP  STRUCTURE

PLASTOREG SMIDT GMBH

(100%)

• Manufacturer and supplier of dividers

  and indices in Germany

ABBA MARKETING SDN BHD

(100%)

• Local distributor of filing products.

SIN CHUAN MARKETING SDN BHD

(100%)

• Marketing arm for Asia File Products Sdn Bhd.

• Manufacturer and supplier of stationery products.

LIM & KHOO SDN BHD

(100%)

• Investment Holding

AFP COMPOSITE SDN BHD

(100%)

• Manufacturer and supplier of plastic

  related products

FORMOSA TECHNOLOGY SDN BHD

(100%)

• Distributor of computer forms

• Graphic designing and desktop publishing

PREMIER STATIONERY PTE LTD(S’PORE)

(100%)

• Stationery distributor in Singapore

PREMIER STATIONERY LIMITED (UK)

(75%)

• Stationery distributor and stockist in the

  United Kingdom

ASIA FILE

CORPORATION

BHD.
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FIVE - YEAR  FINANCIAL  RESULTS  AND
FINANCIAL  HIGHLIGHTS  OF  THE  GROUP

TURNOVER

RM’000
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208,417

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
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share gross (cents)
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BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE (CENTS)
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Basic earning per share (cents)Year

41.04

46.74

43.87

46.53

36.37 *

*

* Based on enlarge share capital
   as a result of the bonus issue
   implemented during the year.



7

NOTICE  OF  ANNUAL  GENERAL  MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fourteenth Annual General Meeting of shareholders of
the Company will be held at Merbah 1 Room, Hotel Equatorial, No. 1, Jalan Bukit Jambul, 11900
Penang on Tuesday, 30 September 2008 at 10.00 a.m. for the following purposes:-

Ordinary
Resolution 1

Ordinary
Resolution 2

Ordinary
Resolution 3

Ordinary
Resolution 4

Ordinary
Resolution 5

Ordinary
Resolution 6

Ordinary
Resolution 7

1. To receive the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2008
and the Reports of Directors and Auditors thereon

2. To consider and if thought fit, pass the following resolutions pursuant
to Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965:

  i) “That Mr. Khoo Khai Hong, retiring in accordance with Section
129 of the Companies Act, 1965 be and is hereby re- appointed as
a Director of the Company to hold office until the next Annual
General Meeting.”

ii) “That Mr. Ooi Ean Chin, retiring in accordance with Section
129 of the Companies Act, 1965 be and is hereby re-appointed
as a Director of the Company to hold office until the next
Annual General Meeting.”

3. To re-elect the following Director who retires pursuant to Article
80 of the Company’s Articles of Association:

1) Puan Nurjannah Binti Ali

4. To approve a Final dividend of 15% less 25% tax for the year ended 31
March 2008

5. To approve Directors’ Fees of RM242,000 for the year ended 31
March 2008

6. To re-appoint Messrs. KPMG as Auditors of the Company for the
ensuing year and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration

7. As Special Business

 To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions:-

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

A) Power to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D, Companies Act, 1965

“THAT pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 and subject
to the approval of the relevant authorities, the Directors be and are
hereby empowered to issue shares in the Company from time to
time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the
Directors may deem fit provided that the aggregate number of shares
issued pursuant to this resolution does not exceed 10% of the total
issued share capital of the Company for the time being and that the
Directors be and are also empowered to obtain the approval for the
listing of and quotation for the additional shares so issued on the
Bursa Malays ia  Secur i t ies  Berhad and that  such author i ty  sha l l
continue in force until the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting
commencing next after the date on which the approval was given; or
the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General
Meeting after that date is required by law to be held whichever is earlier;
but any approval may be previously revoked or varied by the Company
in general meeting.”
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NOTICE  OF  ANNUAL  GENERAL  MEETING  (CONT�D)

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS (Cont’d)

B) Proposed purchase of own shares by the Company

“THAT, subject to the compliance with all applicable rules, regulations and
orders made pursuant to the Companies Act, 1965, provisions of the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the requirements
of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and any
other approvals from al l  relevant governmental and/or regulatory
authorities:

the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to
purchase its own Shares through Bursa Securit ies, subject to the
following: -

a) The maximum number of shares which may be purchased by
the Company and treasury shares held under the previous
proposal shall not exceed ten per centum (10%) representing
11,377,274 Shares of the issued and paid-up ordinary share
capital of the Company as at 6 August 2008;

b) The maximum fund to be allocated by the Company for the purpose
of purchasing Asia File Shares shall not exceed the retained
profits and share premium account of the Company which stood
at RM 16.32 million and RM 10.54 million respectively as at 31March
2008 based on the audited accounts.

c) The authority conferred by this Resolution wil l be effective
immediately upon the pass ing of  th is  Resolut ion and wi l l
expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of
the Company following the passing of this Ordinary Resolution or
the expir y of  the per iod with in which the next AGM is
required by law to be held (unless earlier revoked or varied
by Ordinary Resolution in a general meeting of shareholders
of the Company) but not so as to prejudice the completion of
a purchase by the Company or any person before the aforesaid
expiry date, in any event, in accordance with the provisions of
the guidelines issued by the Bursa Securities or any other relevant
authorities;

 d) Upon completion of the purchase(s) of the Shares by the
Company, the Shares shall be dealt with in the following manner :-

i) to cancel the Shares so purchased; or
ii) to retain the Shares so purchased in treasury for distribution

as dividend to the shareholders and/or resell on the market
of the Bursa Securities; or

iii) to retain part of the Shares so purchased as treasury
shares and cancel the remainder.

The Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to take all such
steps as are necessary or expedient to implement or to effect the purchase of
Asia File Shares.”

8. To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been given.

Ordinary
Resolution 8
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NOTICE  OF  ANNUAL  GENERAL  MEETING  (CONT�D)

DIVIDEND ANNOUNCEMENT

NOTICE IS ALSO HEREBY GIVEN that a depositor shall qualify for entitlement to the dividend
only in respect of:-

a. Shares transferred into the depositor’s securities account before 4.00 p.m. on 1 December 2008
in respect of ordinary transfers; and

b. Shares bought on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on a cum entitlement basis according
to the Rules of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The dividends, if approved will be paid on 29 December 2008 to depositors registered in the Records
of Depositors at the close of business on 1 December 2008.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

LAM VOON KEAN (MIA 4793)
Company Secretary
Penang, 5 September 2008

Notes :

1. A member may appoint up to 2 proxies to attend on the same occasion.  A proxy may but need
not be a Member of the Company and a Member may appoint any person to be his proxy. If
a Member appoints 2 proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specif ies the
proportions of his holdings to be represented by each proxy.

2. Where a Member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Central
Depositories Act, it may appoint at least one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it
holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities
account.

3. If the appointor is a corporation, the proxy form must be executed under the seal or under
the hand of its officer or attorney duly authorised in writing.

4. To be valid, the proxy form must be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at Suite 2-1,
2nd Floor, Menara Penang Garden, 42A Jalan Sultan Ahmad Shah, 10050 Penang, not less
than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.

Explanatory Notes on Special Business

1. The Ordinary Resolution No. 7, i f passed, wil l give authority to the Board of Directors
to issue and allot ordinary shares from the unissued capital of the Company at any time
in their  absolute discret ion and that such authority, unless revoked or var ied at  a
General Meeting, will expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

2. The Ordinary Resolution No. 8, i f  passed wil l  al low the Company to purchase its own
shares. The total number of shares purchased shal l  not exceed 10% of the issued and
paid up share capital of the Company.  This authority will, unless revoked or varied by the
Company in general meeting, expires at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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STATEMENT  ON  CORPORATE  GOVERNANCE  AND
CORPORATE  SOCIAL  RESPONSIBILITY

Part I : Principles of Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors of Asia Fi le Corporation Bhd acknowledges the importance of good
corporate governance in protecting and enhancing the interest of shareholders. As such the Board is
committed towards adherence to the principles and best practices as set out in Part 1 and Part 2
of the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance.

Set out below are the detai ls on how the Group has appl ied the above principles and best
practices throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2008.

A) Board of Directors

Board Composition

There are presently six (6) members on the Board comprising mainly of two (2) Executive Directors,
three (3) independent Non Executive Directors and one (1) Non independent Non Executive
Alternate Director.  The two Executive Directors have been actively involved in the industry
for many years, bringing with them a wealth of valuable experiences in ensuring the success of
the Group. The Non Executive Directors, with their diversified backgrounds and specialization help to
steer the Group in the right direction in fulfi l l ing its role to its shareholders. A brief profile of
each individual director is presented on pages 20 to 21 of this Annual Report.

The managing director, Mr Lim Soon Huat assumed the role of Chairman upon the demise of the
late Dato’ Lim Eng Siang on 27 June 2001. This is in recognition of his invaluable contribution
towards the continued success of the Group’s performance . In view of the decis ion making
procedure currently pract ised by the Group in which the majority v iews of the Board wi l l
be considered and the noticeable presence of the independent directors on the Board, the Board
is confident that the dual roles held will not put the system of check and balance in jeopardy.

As recommended by the Code of Corporate Governance, the Board has on 30 August 2002 appointed
Mr. Khoo Khai Hong as the senior Independent Non Executive Director to whom concerns  may
be conveyed.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overal l  operation of the Group which wil l  encompass the
following specific areas :-

- review and adopt strategic plan;
- oversee the conduct of the Group’s  business;
- identify principal risk areas and ensuring that appropriate risk management system

is in place to address the above risks;
- succession planning for senior management;
- developing and implementing investor relations program and shareholders communication

policy; and
- review the adequacy and integrity of the internal control and management information

system.
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STATEMENT  ON  CORPORATE  GOVERNANCE  AND
CORPORATE  SOCIAL  RESPONSIBILITY  (CONT�D)

Board Meetings

The Board meets at least four (4) times a year, with additional meetings convened as the need arises.
The Board receives relevant documents on matters requiring its consideration prior to each meeting.
A total of four (4) meetings were held during the financial year ended 31 March 2008.

The details of attendance of each director are set out below:-

Board Committees

The Board delegates certain responsibilities to the Audit Committee in order to enhance business
and operational efficiency. There are written terms of reference for the Audit Committee reports
to the Board, the outcome of the committee meetings and a copy of the minutes of meeting is
distributed to all Directors.

Supply of Information

Notice of meetings setting out the agenda and accompanied by the relevant Board papers are
d is tr ibuted to the Directors  to  enab le  them to peruse and i f  requ ire  to  obta in  fur ther
information on issues to be deliberated.

Members  o f  the Board are a l so g iven unrestr icted access  to the adv ices  and ser v ices  o f
the  Company  secretar y  and  other  pro fess iona l  adv i sors  in  d i scharg ing  the i r  dut ies  and
responsibi l it ies at the expense of the Group. All corporate announcements including quarterly
f inancial results wil l  be reviewed and approved by the Board prior to any announcement being
made to the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Directors’ Training

The Board, as a whole, ensures that it recruits to the Board only individuals of sufficient caliber,
knowledge and experience to fulf i l l  the duties of a Director appropriately.  There is no formal
training or orientation program for the Directors.  However, at the date of this statement, all the
Directors have attended and success fu l ly  completed the Mandator y Accreditat ion Program
(MAP) conducted by the Research Inst i tute of Investment Analysts Malays ia (RI IAM). During
the f inancial  year, the Group also organised a plant tour involving board members to provide
them with an in depth knowledge of the Group’s business operation.

Name of Directors     Attendance

Lim Soon Huat 4/4

Khoo Khai Hong 4/4

Lim Soon Wah 4/4

Ooi Ean Chin 4/4

Nurjannah Binti Ali 3/4
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STATEMENT  ON  CORPORATE  GOVERNANCE  AND
CORPORATE  SOCIAL  RESPONSIBILITY  (CONT�D)

Directors’ Training (Cont’d)

Even though the CEP requirement have been repealed effective from 1 January 2005, the Board will
continue to evaluate and determine the training needs of  its Directors in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Directors in discharging their duties.

Appointment and Re-election

In accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company, at least one-third
of the Directors shall retire from office each year at the Annual General Meeting and all Directors shall
retire from office once at least in each three (3) years but shall be eligible for re-election.

Directors over seventy (70) years of age are required to submit themselves for re-appointment
annually in accordance with Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965.

B) Directors’ Remuneration

The Board as a whole approves the remuneration of the Executive Directors with the Directors
concerned abstaining from the decision in respect of their remuneration.

The details of the remuneration for Directors for the financial year ended 31 March 2008 are as follows:-

Below RM 50,000

RM 51,000 to RM 100,000

RM 101,000 to RM 150,000

RM 151,000 to RM 200,000

RM 201,000 to RM 250,000

RM 251,000 to RM 300,000

RM 301,000 to RM 350,000

RM 351,000 to RM 400,000

RM 401,000 to RM 450,000

RM 451,000 to RM 500,000

RM 501,000 to RM 550,000

Range of Remuneration Executive Non-Executive

Executive Directors

Non Executive Directors

Fees
RM’000

167

90

573

-

94

-

17

-

851

90

Salaries
RM’000

Benefits in
kinds RM’000

Bonuses
RM’000

Total
RM’000

The Board is of the opinion that it is advisable not to state in detail each Director’s remuneration.
The remuneration for the Directors for the f inancial year ended 31 March 2008 are , however,
summarized into the following bands:-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

-

-

1

4

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
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STATEMENT  ON  CORPORATE  GOVERNANCE  AND
CORPORATE  SOCIAL  RESPONSIBILITY  (CONT�D)

C) Shareholders

The Group recognizes the impor tance of  keeping i ts  shareholders and the genera l  publ ic
in formed of  the development and performance of  the Group. Annual  genera l  meet ing held
each year provide an excellent platform for shareholders and members of the press to participate
in the quest ion and answer sess ion. In  addi t ion , quar ter ly  f inanc ia l  resu l ts  and corporate
announcements are announced timely to disseminate pertinent information of the Group. The
Group also organizes plant vis its and holds regular meetings with analysts and fund managers
who are interested to acquire further information about the Group.

D) Accountability and Audit

Financial Reporting

The Board  a ims  to  prov ide  and  present  a  ba l anced  and  mean ing fu l  a s sessment  o f  the
Group’s performance and prospects primarily through the annual f inancial statements, quarterly
result announcement to shareholders and Chairman’s statement in the annual report.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The Board is  responsible to ensure that f inancia l  statements of the Group give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the accounting period and of their
profit and loss and cash flows for the period then ended.  In preparing the financial statements,
the Directors have ensured that appl icable approved accounting standards for entit ies other
than private entit ies issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board and the provis ions
of the Companies Act, 1965 have been applied.

In prepar ing the f inancia l  statements , the Directors have se lected and appl ied consistent ly
suitable accounting policies and made reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Directors a lso have general  responsibi l i ty for taking such steps as are reasonably open
to them to sa feguard the assets  of  the Group and to prevent and detect  fraud and other
irregularities.

Internal Control

The Board  i s  respons ib le  to  ma inta in  a  sound sys tem o f  in terna l  contro l  to  sa feguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets.  The Board is , nevertheless, aware that the
system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate risks and therefore cannot
provide an absolute assurance aga inst  mater ia l  misstatement , fraud or loss .

At th is  juncture , the Board is  of  the v iew that  the current system of  interna l  control  in
p lace throughout the Group is  suf f ic ient  to address i ts  intended object ive .

Relationship with Auditors

The Board  through  the  Aud i t  Commit tee  ensures  tha t  an  appropr i a te  and  t ransparent
relationship is establ ished with the external auditors. During the course of audit , al l  relevant
documents  are made ava i lab le  to the externa l  aud i tors .  The externa l  aud i tors  are g iven
the  oppor tun i t y  to  h i gh l i gh t  any  i s sues  requ i r i ng  the  Board ’s  a t ten t ion  to  the  Aud i t
Committee directly.
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STATEMENT  ON  CORPORATE  GOVERNANCE  AND
CORPORATE  SOCIAL  RESPONSIBILITY  (CONT�D)

E) Statement on Corporate Social Responsibility

The Group recognizes the importance of ful f i l l ing its corporate social responsibi l ity towards
the betterment of environment, community and welfare of its employees.

Environment

The Group ensured the compliance of al l  environmental laws and regulations. In addition, the
Group under took severa l  measures  in  preser v ing  the  env ironment  such as  recyc l ing  o f
waste materials and usage of electrical instead of fuel consumed forklift.

Community

During the year, the Group organized a fund raising campaign in conjunction with a visit to the
charity home for the handicapped in Bukit Minyak, Penang.

The Group has also sponsored fi les and stationery in support of community events organized
by certain communities or organizations

Workplace

The Group str ived to ensure a creat ion of a safe and healthy working environment for its
employees to work in.  During the year, the Group invited qualified professional to give health talk
to its employees to enhance their knowledge on certain health aspects. In addition, the Group
also organized fire drill on evacuation procedures in the event of fire.

F) Other Information

Material Contracts

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving
directors and major shareholders of Asia File Corporation Bhd.

Non - audit  Fees

During the year, a total of RM 12,600 was paid to KPMG for non-audit services rendered.

Shares Buy Back

During the year, a total of 1,353,700 shares of Asia File Corporation Bhd were purchased and
retained as treasury shares pursuant to the Shares Buy Back scheme.

The details of share buy back during the year is as follows :-

April 2007
May 2007
July 2007
August 2007
September 2007
January 2008
February 2008

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased

Highest Price
Paid
RM

Lowest Price
Paid
RM

Average Price
Paid
RM

Total
Consideration

RM

65,000
164,000
190,000
640,400
247,200
30,500
16,600

5.60
5.70
5.55
5.50
6.80
5.45
4.98

5.45
5.65
5.55
5.25
5.80
5.00
4.86

5.57
5.69
5.56
5.42
6.46
5.35
4.90

362,212
933,739

1,057,336
3,472,230
1,595,786

163,081
81,360

There was a resale of 2,477,600 treasury shares at an average price of RM9.22 in December 2007.
The total consideration received for treasury shares sold are RM22,874,730.
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STATEMENT  ON  CORPORATE  GOVERNANCE  AND
CORPORATE  SOCIAL  RESPONSIBILITY  (CONT�D)

Part II : Best Practices of Corporate Governance

The Group has complied with the Best Practices of Corporate Governance as set out in the Code
throughout the f inancial year ended 31 March 2008 with the exception of the followings :-

(a) The roles of Chairman and Managing Director are combined, the detai ls of which
are ful ly explained in the Board Composition on Page 10 of this Annual Report.

(b) The Board does not have a formal schedule of matters specif ical ly reserved to it
for decis ion as i t  has been the Board’s pract ice to del iberate on matters that
involve overal l  Group strategy and direct ion, acquis it ion and divestment pol icy,
approva l  o f  cap i ta l  expendi ture , cons iderat ion of  s ign i f i cant  f inanc ia l  matters
and the review of the f inancia l  and operating performance of the Group.

(c) The Board, together with the Manag ing Director, has  not  deve loped pos i t ion
descriptions for the Board and the Managing Director. The Board recognizes the
importance for a proper ident i f icat ion of  the roles and authorizat ion l imits of
Management and wi l l  consider adopting a Board Charter to del ineate the roles
and responsibilities of executive and non-executive directors.

(d) No Nominating Committee is formed by the Group. The Board itself functions as
a Nominating Committee . It  wi l l  par t ic ipate in assessing, identi fy ing, nominating
and recru i t ing  su i tab le  cand idates  to  the  Board . Any  member  o f  the  Board
who has interest  in any matter ra ised by the Board wi l l  absta in h imsel f  from
del iberat ions and voting. In v iew of i ts  current s ize and make up of the Board
which ref lects a well balanced composit ion, the Board is of the opinion that  the
formation of a Nominating Committee is not required at the moment.

(e) The Board as a whole recommends the remuneration of each director. Individual
director does not participate in del iberations and voting on decisions in respect
of his remunerat ion package . In v iew of the above , the Group does not form a
Remuneration Committee.

( f ) The rev ised Code requ ired the Audi t  Committee to compr ise  fu l ly  o f  Non-
Execut ive Directors , ma jor i ty  o f  whom are independent . Present ly  the Audi t
Committee is made up of two Non-Executive Directors and the Group Managing
Director. The Board takes cognizance of  the membership requirement of  the
Audit Committee under the Revised Code and the transit ional  period a l lowed
under the Revised List ing Requirement and wi l l  take measures to comply in due
course.
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AUDIT  COMMITTEE  REPORT

Members:

Chairman :    Mr Khoo Khai Hong - Independent Non Executive Director

Members :    Mr Ooi Ean Chin - Independent Non Executive Director
     Mr Lim Soon Huat - Non Independent Executive Chairman

Attendance at Meetings:

During the year, a total of four (4) meetings were convened. Details of attendance of the Committee
members are as follows:-

 Members :      Attendance

 Khoo Khai Hong 4/4
 Ooi Ean Chin 4/4
 Lim Soon Huat 4/4

Summary of Activities:

The Audit Committee carried out its duties in accordance with its terms and reference during the year.

The main activities carried out by the Committee during the year were as follows:-

- reviewed the audit reports and audit results with the external auditors;
- reviewed the quarterly and annual report of the Group before recommending for the

Board’s approval.  
The focus of review will be on:-

(a) changes in implementation of major accounting policies;
(b) significant and unusual events;
(c) compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;

- reviewed the Group’s compliance with the Listing Requirements of the Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad, Malaysian Accounting Standard Board and other relevant legal
and regulatory requirement;

- reviewed related party transactions entered into by the Group;
- reviewed the audited financial statements of the Group;
- reviewed the findings of the internal audit function and to ensure appropriate actions

were taken and recommendation implemented.

Internal Audit Function

The Audit Committee is aware of the importance of an independent and adequately resourced internal
audit function for the effectiveness of the internal control system. The Internal Audit Department conducts
internal audits on financial and operational matters of the Group. Internal audit reports are presented
to the Audit Committee during the Audit Committee meeting. The findings and recommendations
were highlighted to the management for their comments and necessary action.
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1) Membership:

The Committee shall be appointed by the Board from amongst the Directors of the Company, a majority
of whom must be independent. It shall consist of no less than three (3) members and at least one
member must fulfill the following criteria:-

- a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants ; or
- if he is not a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, he must have at least

three (3) years of working experience and

(a) he must have passed the examination specified in Part I of the 1st Schedule
to the Accountants Act, 1967; or

(b) he must be a member of one of the associations of accountants specified
in Part II of the 1st Schedule to the Accountants Act 1967

- fulfils such other requirements as may be prescribed or approved by Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad from time to time.

The Chairman of the committee shall be an independent Non Executive Director. No Alternate Director
of the Board should be appointed as a member of the Committee.

In the event of any vacancy in the Committee which results in the number of members to be reduced
to below three (3), the Board shall fill the vacancy within three (3) months.

2) Meeting Procedures

The Committee is to meet at least four (4) times a year or more frequently as the need arises.

In order to form a quorum for the meeting, the majority of the members present must be independent
Non Executive Directors. In the absence of the Chairman, the members present shall elect a
Chairman from amongst them.

Group Financial Controller and Head of Internal Audit Department will usually attend the meeting
and the presence of external auditors may be requested if required. The Committee may, as and
when necessar y, inv ite other Board members and senior management members to attend
the meeting.

3) Authority

In fulfilling its duties, the Committee is granted the authority to:-

- investigate any activities of the Group within its term of reference;
- have unrestricted access to information;
- directly communicate with the employees of the Group and/or external auditors;
- obtain at the cost of the Group legal and other necessary professional advise it considers

necessary;
- be able to convene meetings with the external auditors, the internal auditors or both,

excluding the attendance of other directors and employees of the listed issuer, whenever
deemed necessary;

- report to the relevant authorities on any unresolved issues which result in breaching of
any regulatory requirement.
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TERMS  OF  REFERENCE  OF  THE  AUDIT  COMMITTEE  (CONT�D)

4) Scope of Responsibilities

The duties and responsibilities of the Committee encompass the followings:-

- to review the audit scope and plan with external auditors;
- to review external audit reports to ensure that  prompt corrective actions are taken

to address issues ( including any deficiencies in internal control system) highlighted;
- to review the assistance and cooperation rendered by the Group‘s employees to the

external auditors;
- to consider the performance of the external auditors, their appointment, audit fees

and issues of resignation or dismissal;
- to review the followings in respect of the internal audit functions:-

(a) adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the
internal audit functions and whether it has the necessary authority to
carry out its work;

(b) to review the findings of the internal audit function and to ensure
appropriate actions were taken and recommendation implemented;

(c) the effectiveness of the internal audit function.

- to review the quarterly results and year end financial statements, prior to Board’s
approval, focusing mainly on:-

(a) changes in implementation of major accounting policies;
(b) significant or unusual events;
(c) compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;

- to review any related party transaction and situation where conflict of interest may arise;
- to review the allocation of options pursuant to Asia File Corporation Bhd Employees

Share Option Scheme;
- to undertake any responsibilities as authorized by the Board.



STATEMENT  ON  INTERNAL  CONTROL

1 9

Introduction

Paragraph 15.27(b) of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s Listing Requirements requires the Board
of Directors of public listed companies to include in its annual report a ‘statement about the state of
internal control of the listed issuer as a group’. The Board is committed to maintaining a sound system of
internal control in the Group and is pleased to provide the following statement which outlines the nature
and scope of internal control of the Group during the year.

Board Responsibility

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal control which includes the
establishment of an appropriate control environment and framework as well as reviewing its adequacy
and integrity.

The Board recognizes the need to have a formal ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the significant risks faced by the Group. This process has been in place throughout the financial
year and up to the date of approval of this statement. The Board also recognizes that a good control system
will assist the achievement of corporate objectives. However, in view of the limitations inherent in any
system of internal control, the system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
corporate objectives. Accordingly, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement, fraud or loss.

Internal Audit Function

Internal Audit Department of the Group reviews and updates the internal control processes with the
objective of strengthening the control environment of the Group.  The principal responsibility of the
Internal Audit Department is to regularly review the systems of internal controls of the various
departments within the Group. Internal audits are conducted based on risk assessment as well as internal
audit programmes established. Risks identified and findings from the internal audits carried out during
the year were tabled at the quarterly Audit Committee meetings.

Internal Control

Key elements of the current internal control in the Group include:-

- Key control checklist by functional areas which sets out the various key controls and
process across functions within the Group.

- Regular management reports are submitted by Head of Department to Top Management
to analyse, discuss and resolve pertinent issues affecting the operation of the Group.
Financial statistics and operation issues are presented in the management reports.

- Operating procedures that set out procedures and guidelines were issued to ensure
compliance and awareness of the Group’s policies.

- The Group operates within an organizational structure with defined lines of responsibilities
and accountability.

- The Executive Board members are actively involved in day-to-day operation of the Group.
The performance of the Group is periodically reviewed and monitored by the Executive
Board Members.

There were no material losses incurred during the current financial year as a result of weaknesses
in internal control. The Management will continue to review and implement measures to strengthen
the control environment of the Group.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors dated 24
July 2008.
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PROFILE  OF  DIRECTORS

Lim Soon Huat, age 51, is a Malaysian citizen and the Non Independent Executive Chairman and
a member of the Audit Committee. He was appointed to the Board on 3 January 1996 and
was subsequently appointed as Chairman of the Board on 16 July 2001.

He graduated from University of Melbourne with a Master Degree in Engineering. He has vast
working experiences of more than twenty (20) years in both public and private sectors. Prior to
his involvement in business , he was involved in c iv i l  engineering projects under taken by
the Drainage and Irrigation Department. In 1986, he joined the fi l ing and stationery industry
and since then he has been playing a prominent role in all facets of the company management. He
is the Chairman of Penang Paper & Stationery Association and also the Vice President of The
Federation of Stationers and Booksellers Association of Malaysia. He is also one of the council
members of Federation of Malaysian Manufacturers. He holds directorship in various subsidiaries
and associate companies of Asia File Corporation Bhd Group.

As at 6 August 2008, he is the registered holder of 761,491 shares in Asia File Corporation Bhd
and is deemed interested over 52,336,837 shares in Asia Fi le Corporation Bhd registered
under Prestige Elegance (M) Sdn Bhd. He also holds 50.01% of the total shareholding in Prestige
Elegance (M) Sdn Bhd. During the financial year ended 31 March 2008, he attended four (4) Board
of Directors’ meetings.

Nurjannah binti Ali, age 49, is a Malaysian citizen. She was appointed to the Board on 15 April
1999 as an Independent Non-Executive Director.

With an accounting background, Nurjannah has more than f i fteen (15) years’ experience in
finance and corporate management. She presently sits on the Board of Public Packages Holdings Bhd,
TRIplc Bhd, WWE Holdings Berhad and several other private l imited companies. During the
financial year ended 31 March 2008, she attended three (3) Board of Directors’ meetings.
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PROFILE  OF  DIRECTORS  (CONT�D)

Khoo Khai Hong, age 80, is a Malaysian citizen and an Independent Non Executive Director and
the Chairman of the Audit Committee. He was appointed to the Board on 3 January 1996.

He is a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, Malaysian Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, Australian Society of Certified Practicing Accountants and Institute of Certified Public
Accountants of Singapore. He is actively involved in the accountancy profession and has been practicing
as a public accountant under the name of Khoo Khai Hong & Co since 1963.

As at 6 August 2008, he is the registered holder of 64,000 shares in Asia File Corporation Bhd. During
the financial year ended 31 March 2008, he attended four (4) Board of Directors’ meetings.

Lim Soon Wah, age 41, is a Malaysian citizen and a Non Independent Executive Director. He was
appointed to the Board on 3 January 1996.

He obtained a Bachelor of Science Degree from University of Manitoba, Canada in 1986. Since then he has
been actively involved in the production operation of the Company. He also holds directorships
in several private limited companies.

As at 6 August 2008, he is the registered holder of 2,479,825 shares in Asia File Corporation Bhd.  He also
holds 10.75% of the total shareholding in Prestige Elegance (M) Sdn Bhd, a substantial shareholder
of Asia Fi le Corporation Bhd. During the f inancial year ended 31 March 2008, he attended
four (4) Board of Directors’ meetings.

Ooi Ean Chin, age 75, is a Malaysian citizen and an Independent Non Executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee. He was appointed to the Board on 3 January 1996.

He has more than twenty six (26) years of commercial banking experiences and  was holding the
post of manager in Malayan Banking Berhad before he resigned in 1982 to venture into manufacturing.
His active involvement in the manufacturing sector covers a wide spectrum of different industries
namely wood moulding, fibre glass, rubber glove as well as housing development.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2008, he attended four (4) Board of Directors’ meetings.

Lim Soon Hee, age 45, is a Malaysian citizen and an Non Independent Non Executive Alternate Director.
He was appointed as alternate director to Mr Khoo Khai Hong on 3 January 1996.

He has more than ten (10) years’ experiences in sales and marketing and was appointed as director
for one of the subsidiary companies in 1985. He also holds directorships in various private limited
companies.

As at 6 August 2008, he is the registered holder of 2,557,403 shares in Asia File Corporation Bhd. He also
holds 8.74% of the total shareholding in Prestige Elegance (M) Sdn Bhd, a substantial shareholder
of Asia File Corporation Bhd.

Notes:

i) Datin Khoo Saw Sim, a substantial shareholder, is the mother of Directors, Mr Lim Soon Huat
and Mr Lim Soon Wah, and Alternate Director, Mr Lim Soon Hee. Other than as disclosed in the
Profile of Directors, none of the directors has any family relationship with any other directors/
major shareholders of the Company.

ii) Other than as disclosed in the Directors’ Report and Notes to the Financial Statements, there
is no other conflict of interest that the directors have with the Company.

iii) Except for Nurjannah binti Ali, which was disclosed in the Profile of Directors, none of the
other directors hold any directorship in any other public listed companies.

iv) In the past ten (10) years, none of the directors was convicted of any offence other than traffic offences.
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DIRECTORS�  REPORT
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial statements of
the Group and of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2008.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Company are that of investment holding and commission agent.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are as stated in Note 6 to the financial statements.

There has been no significant change in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

Results

Group         Company
    RM              RM

Profit attributable to shareholders of
the Company             40,717,468          24,387,018

Reserves and provisions

There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year
except as disclosed in the financial statements.

Dividends

Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company :

i) paid an interim dividend of 12% less 27% tax on 69,459,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each, totalling
RM6,084,608 in respect of the year ended 31 March 2007 on 25 May 2007;

ii) paid a final dividend of 20% less 27% tax on 68,267,900 ordinary shares of RM1 each, totalling
RM9,967,113 in respect of the year ended 31 March 2007 on 30 November 2007; and

iii) paid an interim dividend of 10% less 25% tax on 113,364,180 ordinary shares of RM1 each, totalling
RM8,502,314 for the financial year ended 31 March 2008 on 28 May 2008.

A final dividend of 15% less 25% tax has been recommended by the Directors in respect of the
f inancial  year ended 31 March 2008, subject to the approval of members at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.
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DIRECTORS�  REPORT
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008  (CONT�D)

Directors’ interests

The interests and deemed interests in the shares and options of the Company and of its related
corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) of those who were Directors at year end
(including the interests of the spouse or children of the Directors who themselves are not
Directors of the Company) as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings are as follows :

Lim Soon Huat
Khoo Khai Hong
Lim Soon Wah
Ooi Ean Chin
Nurjannah Binti Ali
Lim Soon Hee (Alternate to Khoo Khai Hong)

Directors of the Company

Directors who served since the date of the last report are :

Number of ordinary shares of RM1 each

Balance
at

1.4.2007 Bought

Balance
before
bonus
issue

Bonus
issue Bought (sold)

Balance
at

31.3.2008

Lim Soon Huat

     Interest in the
       Company:
     - own
     - others*
     Deemed interest
       in the Company:
     - own

325,932
44,500

-
-

325,932
44,500

195,559
26,700

240,000
17,600

-
-

761,491
88,800

32,636,819 73,700 32,710,519 19,626,318 - - 52,336,837

Lim Soon Wah

     Interest in the
       Company:
     - own
     - others*

1,549,891
95,200

-
-

1,549,891
95,200

929,934
57,120

-
-

-
-

2,479,825
152,320

Khoo Kai Hong

     Interest in the
       Company:
     - own
     

40,000 - 40,000 24,000 - - 64,000

Ooi Ean Chin

     Interest in the
       Company:
     - others*
    

7,200 5,000 12,200 7,320 - - 19,520

Lim Soon Hee

     Interest in the
       Company:
     - own
    

1,598,377 - 1,598,377 959,026 - - 2,557,403
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DIRECTORS�  REPORT
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008  (CONT�D)

* These are shares and options held in the name of the spouse and children and are treated
as interests of the respective Directors in accordance with Section 134(12)(c) of the Companies
Act, 1965, which came to effect on 15 August 2007.

By virtue of his interests in the Company, Mr Lim Soon Huat is also deemed to have interest in
the shares of the subsidiaries to the extent the Company has an interest.

Directors’ benefits

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received nor become
entitled to receive any benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments
received or due and receivable by Directors as shown in the financial statements of the Company
and its related corporations) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation
with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the
Director has a substantial financial interest, other than certain Directors who may be deemed to
derive a benefit from those transactions entered into in the ordinary course of business between
certain companies in the Group and companies in which certain Directors have substantial financial
interests as disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements.

There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year which had the object of
enabling Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate other than the Employees’ Share Option
Scheme (“ESOS”) granted to certain Directors.

Issue of shares and debentures

During the financial year, the authorised ordinary share capital of the Company was increased from
100,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each to 500,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each.

Number of options over ordinary shares of RM1 each

Balance
at

1.4.2007 Granted Exercised

Balance
before
bonus
issue

Bonus
issue Exercised

Balance
at

31.3.2008

-

Lim Soon Huat

     - others* 50,000 45,000 27,000 - 72,000- (5,000)
Lim Soon Wah

     - own 200,000 200,000 120,000 - 320,000-
Khoo Khai Hong

     - own 35,000 35,000 21,000 - 56,000- -

Ooi Ean Chin

     - own 25,000 25,000 15,000 - 40,000- -

Nurjannah Binti Ali

     - own 25,000 25,000 15,000 - 40,000- -

Company
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Issue of shares and debentures (Cont’d)

The issued and paid-up share capital  of the Company was increased from RM70,675,000 to
RM113,411,280 through the issuance of 236,000 new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each for cash
from the exercise of Employees’ Share Option and 42,500,280 new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each
from the Bonus Issue , capital ised from share premium and retained earnings of RM7,504,744
and RM34,995,536 respectively as follows :

There were no other changes in the authorised, issued and paid-up capital of the Company and
no debentures were issued by the Company during the financial year.

Options granted over unissued shares

No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the
financial year apart from the issue of options pursuant to the Employees’ Share Option Scheme
(“ESOS”) below.

Employees’ share option scheme

The Company’s Employees’ Share Option Scheme (“the Scheme”) was approved by the shareholders
at an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) held on 20 April 2007.

The main features of the Scheme are as follows :

i ) The total number of shares to be offered under the Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the
issued and paid-up share capital of the Company or such maximum percentage as allowable
by the relevant authorities at any point in time during the existence of the Scheme. In the
event the maximum number of shares offered exceeds 15% of the issued and paid-up
share capital or such maximum percentage as al lowable by the relevant authorities as a
result of the Company purchasing its own shares and thereby diminishing its issued and
paid-up share capital, then the options granted prior to the adjustment of the issued and
paid-up share capital of the Company shall remain valid and exercisable but there shall not
be any further offer;

ii) The Scheme shall be in force for a period of f ive years commencing from 23 April 2007
being the last  date on which the Company obta ined a l l  re levant approvals  required
for the Scheme;

iii) The option is personal to the grantee and is not assignable , transferable , disposable or
changeable except for certain conditions provided for in the By-Laws;

No. of ordinary
shares of
RM1.00

each issued

5.02
3.14

158,800
77,200

Option price
RM

Exercise of options under ESOS

Bonus issue of three (3) ordinary shares for
  every five (5) existing ordinary shares 42,500,280-
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Employees’ share option scheme (Cont’d)

iv) E l i g ib le  persons are employees  and Execut ive  Directors , who are invo lved in  the
day-to-day management and on the payroll of the Group who have been confirmed in the
employment of the Group and have been in the employment of the Group for a continuous
period of at least six (6) months immediately preceding the date of offer, the date when an
offer is made in writing to an employee to participate in the Scheme.

v) No options shall be granted for less than one hundred (100) shares nor :

(a) not more than fifty percent (50%) of the total number of Shares to be issued under
the Scheme shall be allotted in aggregate to Directors and Senior Management of the
Group; and

(b) not more then ten percent (10%) of the total number of shares to be issued under
the Scheme shall be al lotted to any Eligible Director or Employee of the Group
who either singly or col lectively through persons connected with the Director
or Employee , holds twenty percent (20%) or more of the issued and paid-up
ordinary share capital of the Company.

The maximum a l lowable a l lotment does not inc lude addit iona l  shares which ar isen
pursuant to event stipulated in (viii).

vi) The exercise price for each ordinary share shall be set at a discount of not more than 10%,
if deemed appropriate, or such lower or higher limit as approved by the relevant authorities,
from the weighted average of the market price of the shares as shown in the Daily Official
List issued by the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad for the five (5) market days preceding the
date of offer or at par value of the shares, whichever is higher;

vii) The options granted do not confer any dividend or other distribution declared to the
shareholders as at a date which precedes the date of exercise of the option and will be
subject to all the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company; and

viii) In the event of any alteration in the capital structure of the Company during the option
period, whether by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves, rights issues, reduction of
capita l , subdiv is ion, consol idat ion of shares or otherwise (excluding the purchase by
the Company of its own shares) howsoever taking places, such corresponding alterations
(if any) sha l l  be made in  the number of  shares re lat ing to the unexerc ised opt ions
and option price.
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DIRECTORS�  REPORT
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008  (CONT�D)

Other statutory information

Before the balance sheets and income statements of the Group and of the Company were made out,
the Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that :

i ) all known bad debts have been written off and adequate provision made for doubtful debts, and

ii) all current assets have been stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances :

i ) that would render the amount written off for bad debts, or the amount of the provision
for doubtful debts, in the Group and in the Company inadequate to any substantial extent,
or

ii) that would render the value attributed to the current assets in the f inancial statements
of the Group and of the Company misleading, or

iii) which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets
or l iabil it ies of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate , or

iv) not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements, that would render any
amount stated in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist :

i ) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of
the financial year and which secures the liabilities of any other person, or

ii) any contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the
end of the financial year.

No contingent liability or other liability of any company in the Group has become enforceable, or
is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial
year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the Group
and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.

In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for
the financial year ended 31 March 2008 have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction
or event of a material and unusual nature nor has any such item, transaction or event occurred in
the interval between the end of that financial year and the date of this report.

Significant events during the year

The details of such events are disclosed in Note 37 to the financial statements.

Subsequent event

The details of such event are disclosed in Note 38 to the financial statements.



3 0

DIRECTORS�  REPORT
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008  (CONT�D)

Auditors

The auditors , Messrs KPMG, have indicated their  wi l l ingness to accept re-appointment .

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors :

…………………………………..
Lim Soon Huat

…………………………………..
Khoo Khai Hong

Penang,

Date : 24 July 2008
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STATEMENT  BY  DIRECTORS  PURSUANT  TO  SECTION  169(15)
OF  THE  COMPANIES  ACT,  1965

In the opinion of the Directors, the f inancial statements set out on pages 35 to 91 are drawn
up in accordance with the provis ions of  the Companies Act , 1965 and appl icable approved
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board so as to give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at 31 March 2008 and
of the results of their operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors :

…………………………………..
Lim Soon Huat

…………………………………..
Khoo Khai Hong

Penang,

Date : 24 July 2008
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I ,  Goh Phaik Ngoh , the of f icer primari ly responsible for the f inancia l  management of
Asia File Corporation Bhd., do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set
out on pages 35 to 91 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this
solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions
of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Georgetown in the State of Penang on

24 July 2008.

Before me :

STATUTORY  DECLARATION  PURSUANT  TO  SECTION  169(16)
OF  THE  COMPANIES  ACT,  1965

Goh Phaik Ngoh

.……………………………………
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INDEPENDENT  AUDITORS�  REPORT  TO  THE  MEMBERS  OF
ASIA  FILE  CORPORATION  BHD.

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the financial statements of Asia File Corporation Bhd., which comprise the
balance sheets as at 31 March 2008 of the Group and of the Company, and the income statements,
statements of changes in equity and cash flow statements of the Group and of the Company for
the year then ended, and a summary of signif icant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes, as set out on pages 35 to 91.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparat ion and fa ir  presentat ion
of  these f inanc ia l  s tatements in  accordance with F inanc ia l  Repor t ing Standards and the
Companies Act, 1965 in Malays ia . This responsibi l i ty includes: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal  control relevant to the preparat ion and fa ir presentat ion of f inancia l
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error ; selecting
and apply ing appropr iate account ing pol ic ies ; and making account ing est imates that  are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit  in accordance with approved standards on audit ing in Malays ia .
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the f inancia l  statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment,
inc lud ing the assessment of  r i sks  of  mater ia l  misstatement of  the f inanc ia l  s tatements ,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control
relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting pol icies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view
of the f inancial  posit ion of the Group and of the Company as of 31 March 2008 and of
their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.
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KPMG
AF 0758
Chartered Accountants

NG SWEE WENG
1414/03/10 (J/PH)
Chartered Accountant

INDEPENDENT  AUDITORS�  REPORT  TO  THE  MEMBERS  OF
ASIA  FILE  CORPORATION  BHD.  (CONT�D)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the
following :

(a) In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept
by the Company and its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b) We have considered the accounts and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which we
have not acted as auditors, which are indicated in Note 6 to the financial statements.

(c) We are satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the
Company’s financial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the
purposes of the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and we have received
satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

(d) The audit reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any
adverse comment made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

Other Matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174
of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to
any other person for the content of this report.

Date : 24 July 2008

Penang,
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CONSOLIDATED  BALANCE  SHEET  AT 31  MARCH  2008

The notes on pages 46 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.

NOTE

2007
RM

(Restated)
2008
RM

50,715,898
1,872,829
1,800,792

5,000
5,268,678

-

59,663,197

36,223,824
47,289,729

330,795
472,457

64,526,414

148,843,219

208,506,416

70,675,000
(5,471,417)

119,344,859

184,548,442

5,459,000
-

5,459,000

11,665,480
412,902
335,984

6,084,608

18,498,974

23,957,974

208,506,416

Assets

   Property, plant and equipment
   Prepaid lease payments
   Investment properties
   Investments in an associate
   Other investments
   Goodwill on consolidation

Total non-current assets

   Receivables, deposits and prepayments
   Inventories
   Current tax assets
   Assets classified as held for sale
   Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

Equity

   Share capital
   Treasury shares
   Reserves

Total equity

Liabilities

   Deferred tax liabilities
   Bank borrowings

Total non-current liabilities

   Payables and accruals
   Bank borrowings
   Current tax liability
   Dividend payable

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

3
4
5
7
8
9

10
11

12
13

14
15
16

17
19

18
19

92,939,372
1,833,954
1,759,460

5,000
1,008,900

30,234,456

127,781,142

53,910,620
73,640,433

164,293
-

60,586,008

188,301,354

316,082,496

113,411,280
(244,441)

111,385,382

224,552,221

6,923,474
22,488,095

29,411,569

37,908,826
13,151,701
2,555,865
8,502,314

62,118,706

91,530,275

316,082,496
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The notes on pages 46 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED  INCOME  STATEMENT
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008

NOTE
2007
RM

2008
RM

Continuing operations

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Other operating expenses

Other operating income

Results from operating activities

Finance costs

Profit before tax

Tax expense

Profit for the year

Attributable to :

Shareholders of the Company

Basic earnings per ordinary share (sen)

Diluted earnings per ordinary share (sen)

Dividends per ordinary share - gross (sen)

21

22

25

26

26

27

208,416,619

(119,378,628)

89,037,991

(12,602,587)

(27,686,473)

(2,575,870)

3,763,256

(39,101,674)

49,936,317

(674,144)

49,262,173

(8,544,705)

40,717,468

40,717,468

36.37

35.93

25.00

132,433,135

(81,397,430)

51,035,705

(5,440,800)

(12,369,001)

(206,277)

6,998,040

(11,018,038)

40,017,667

(402,953)

39,614,714

(7,207,428)

32,407,286

32,407,286

28.90

28.90

32.00
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CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT  OF  CHANGES  IN  EQUITY
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008
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CONSOLIDATED  CASH  FLOW  STATEMENT
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008

2007
RM

(Restated)
2008
RM

3

5

4

22

22

22

22

22

22

20

22

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax from continuing operations

Adjustments for :

Depreciation

- Property, plant and equipment

- Investment properties

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments

Interest expense

Interest income

Dividends income

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of plant and

equipment

Gain on disposal of other investments

Plant and equipment written off

       Unrealised loss on foreign exchange

       Share based payment under ESOS

       Gain on disposal of assets held for sale

Operating profit before changes in working

       capital

Changes in working capital :

Inventories

Receivables, deposits and prepayments

Payables and accruals

Cash generated from operations

Income taxes paid

Net cash generated from operating

     activities

49,262,173

6,461,573

41,332

38,875

674,144

(2,207,426)

-

(130,033)

(108,379)

3,960

-

843,606

(97,543)

54,782,282

(13,216,657)

1,695,490

1,390,342

  44,651,457

(6,515,872)

38,135,585

39,614,714

4,927,077

41,332

38,875

402,953

(3,065,439)

(194,074)

19,299

(764,842)

623

272,425

-

-

41,292,943

(9,806,372)

(2,398,342)

4,104,903

33,193,132

(7,837,535)

25,355,597

NOTE
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CONSOLIDATED  CASH  FLOW  STATEMENT
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008  (CONT�D)

2007
RM

(Restated)
2008
RM

3

8

34

Cash flows from investing activities

       Interest received
       Purchase of plant and equipment
       Proceeds from disposal of plant and     
              equipment
       Purchase of other investments
        Proceeds from disposal of other
              investments, net
       Dividends received
       Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash
              acquired
       Proceeds from disposal of asset held
              for sale
        Withdrawal of deposits placed under
              investment portfolio

Net cash (used in)/generated from
       investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

       Proceeds from shares issued under ESOS
       Share issue expenses
       Dividends paid
       Repurchase of treasury shares
       Bank borrowings, net
       Proceeds from sales of treasury shares
       Interest paid

Net cash generated from/(used in)
       financing activities

2,207,426
(13,256,322)

195,231
(1,008,900)

1,706,761
-

(61,642,850)

570,000

3,670,296

(67,558,358)

3,008,425
(8,627,507)

200,538
(1,584,828)

25,464,895
5,400

-

-

-

18,466,923

NOTE

1,039,584
(111,871)

(16,051,721)
(7,665,744)
24,514,682
22,598,868

(674,144)

23,649,654

746,278
-

(16,065,737)
(2,485,824)

115,469
-

(402,953)

(18,092,767)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
       equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April

Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash
       equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

(5,773,119)

64,224,602

123,663

58,575,146

25,729,753

38,481,198

13,651

64,224,602

16

15
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CONSOLIDATED  CASH  FLOW  STATEMENT
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008  (CONT�D)

NOTE

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consol idated cash f low statement comprise the
following  amounts :

51,477,675
9,108,333

(2,010,862)

58,575,146

Short term deposits with licensed banks 
Cash and bank balances 
Bank overdrafts

2007
RM

2008
RMNOTE

61,579,659
2,946,755
(301,812)

64,224,602

13
13
19

The notes on pages 46 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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The notes on pages 46 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.

 BALANCE  SHEET  AT 31  MARCH  2008

2007
RM

2008
RMNOTE

Assets

Investments in subsidiaries
Amount due from subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

Receivables, deposits and prepayments
Current tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

Equity

Share capital
Treasury shares
Reserves

Total equity

Liabilities

Payables and accruals
Dividend payable

Total current liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

6
10

10

13

14

15
16

18

22,196,151
44,315,000

66,511,151

78,781,097
164,293

4,424,396

83,369,786

149,880,937

113,411,280

(244,441)
27,562,513

140,729,352

649,271
8,502,314

9,151,585

149,880,937

21,352,545
44,315,000

65,667,545

52,676,821
203,657

7,631,867

60,512,345

126,179,890

70,675,000

(5,471,417)
52,903,735

118,107,318

1,987,964
6,084,608

8,072,572

126,179,890
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The notes on pages 46 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.

INCOME  STATEMENT
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008

2007
RM

2008
RMNOTE

Continuing operations

Revenue

Administrative expenses

Other operating expenses

Other operating income

Results from operating activities

Finance costs

Profit before tax

Tax expense

Profit for the year

Dividends per ordinary share - gross (sen)

21

22

25

27

32,735,455

(354,122)

(5,669)

285,377

32,661,041

(792)

32,660,249

(8,273,231)

24,387,018

25.00

64,078,454

(349,914)

(1,004)

221,348

63,948,884

(665)

63,948,219

(12,895,915)

51,052,304

32.00
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The notes on pages 46 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.

 STATEMENT  OF  CHANGES  IN  EQUITY
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008

Share
Capital

RM

Treasury
Shares

RM

Share
Premium

RM

Share
Option

Reserves
RM

Retained
Earnings

RM
Total
RM

At 1 April 2006
Profit for the year
Treasury shares
       acquired

Shares issued :
       - under ESOS
Dividends (Note 27)

At 31 March
       2007/1 April
       2007

Profit for the year
Treasury shares
          - acquired
          - disposed

Transfer to share
       premium for
       share options 
       exercised

Share based payments
       under ESOS

Shares issued
          - under ESOS
          - bonus shares

Shares issue
       expenses
Dividends (Note 27)

At 31 March 2008

70,495,200
-

-

179,800
-

70,675,000

-

-
-

-

-

236,000
42,500,280

-
-

113,411,280

(2,985,593)
-

(2,485,824)

-
-

(5,471,417)

-

(7,665,744)
12,892,720

-

-

-
-

-
-

(244,441)

6,938,266
-

-

566,478
-

7,504,744

-

-
9,706,148

144,879

-

803,584
(7,504,744)

(111,871)
-

10,542,740

-
-

-

-
-

-

-

-
-

(144,879)

843,606

-
-

-
-

698,727

10,467,591
51,052,304

-

-
(16,120,904)

45,398,991

24,387,018

-
-

-

-

-
(34,995,536)

-
(18,469,427)

16,321,046

84,915,464
51,052,304

(2,485,824)

746,278
(16,120,904)

118,107,318

24,387,018

(7,665,744)
22,598,868

-

843,606

1,039,584
-

(111,871)
(18,469,427)

140,729,352

Non-Distributable Distributable
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CASH  FLOW  STATEMENT
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008

32,660,249

792

(32,670,400)

(282,243)

-

(291,602)

91,706

(1,338,693)

(1,538,589)

123,133

24,313,400

22,897,944

282,243

-

-

282,243

2007
RM

2008
RMNOTE

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax from continuing operations

Adjustments for :

       Interest expense

       Dividends income

       Interest income

       Gain on disposal of other investments

Operating loss before changes in working

       capital

Changes in working capital :

       Receivables, deposits and prepayments

       Payables and accruals

Cash used in operations

       Income taxes refund

       Dividends received

Net cash generated from operating

       activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received

Purchase of other investments

Proceeds from disposal of other investments

Net cash generated from investing

       activities

63,948,219

665

(64,000,000)

(200,529)

(19,879)

(271,524)

(91,706)

(51,079)

(414,309)

6,045

51,040,000

50,631,736

200,529

(34,133)

54,012

220,408

22

22

22

22



4 5

The notes on pages 46 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.

2007
RM

2008
RMNOTE

Cash flows from financing activities

Advances to subsidiaries, net

Proceeds from shares issued under ESOS

Share issue expenses

Dividends paid

Repurchase of treasury shares

Proceeds from sales of treasury shares

Interest paid

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and

   cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

(26,790,245)

746,278

-

(16,065,737)

(2,485,824)

-

(665)

(44,596,193)

6,255,951

1,375,916

7,631,867

16

15

13

(26,195,982)

1,039,584

(111,871)

(16,051,721)

(7,665,744)

22,598,868

(792)

(26,387,658)

(3,207,471)

7,631,867

4,424,396

 CASH  FLOW  STATEMENT
FOR  THE  YEAR  ENDED  31  MARCH  2008  (CONT�D)
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

Asia File Corporation Bhd. is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and
is listed on the Main Board of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The addresses of its registered office
and principal place of business are as follows :

Registered office

Suite 2-1, 2nd Floor,
Menara Penang Garden
42A, Jalan Sultan Ahmad Shah
10050 Penang

Principal place of business

Plot 16, Kawasan Perindustrian
Bayan Lepas, Phase IV,
Mukim 12, Bayan Lepas,
11900 Penang

The consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 March 2008 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group) and the Group’s interest in associates.

The Company is principally engaged as an investment holding company and commission agent. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 July 2008.

1. Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with
applicable approved Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) issued by the Malaysian Accounting
Standards Board (“MASB”), accounting principles generally accepted in Malaysia and the
provisions of the Companies Act, 1965.

The MASB has also issued the following FRS and Interpretations that are effective for annual
periods beginning after 1 April 2007, and that have not been applied in preparing these financial
statements :

FRSs/Interpretations                      Effective date

FRS 107, Cash Flow Statements

FRS 111, Construction Contracts

FRS 112, Income Taxes

FRS 118, Revenue

FRS 120, Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure
of Government Assistance

Amendment to FRS 121, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates - Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

FRS 134, Interim Financial Reporting

FRS 137, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

FRS 139, Financial Instruments : Recognition and Measurement

IC Interpretation 1, Changes in Existing Decommissioning,
Restoration and Similar Liabilities

1 July 2007

1 July 2007

1 July 2007

1 July 2007

1 July 2007

1 July 2007

1 July 2007

1 July 2007

To be announced

1 July 2007
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

The accounting policies adopted by the Group and the Company are consistent with those
adopted in the previous year except for the adoption of FRS 117, Leases and FRS 124, Related
Party Disclosure.

Other than the reclassif ication of leasehold land from property, plant and equipment to
prepaid lease payments and additional disclosure, the adoption of FRS 117, Leases and FRS 124,
Related Party Disclosure do not have any significant financial impact on the Group and the
Company. The effect of adopting FRS 117, Leases in the financial year ended 31 March 2008 are
set out in Note 35.

The Group and the Company plan to apply the rest of the above-mentioned FRSs and
Interpretations for the annual period beginning 1 April 2008 except for those which are not
applicable to the Company and FRS 139, Financial Instruments : Recognition and Measurement
which the effective date has yet to be announced.

The impact of applying FRS 139 on the financial statements upon first adoption as required by
paragraph 30(b) of FRS 108, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
is not disclosed by virtue of the exemption given in FRS 139.103AB.

The initial application of the other new/revised FRSs and Interpretations are not expected
to have any material impact on the financial statements of the Group and the Company.

(b)   Basis of measurement

The f inancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis other than as
disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Company’s
functional currency.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future
periods affected.

1. Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

(a) Statement of compliance (Cont’d)

FRSs/Interpretations                      Effective date

IC Interpretation 2, Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities and
Similar Instruments

IC Interpretation 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning,
Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds

IC Interpretation 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a
Specific Market - Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment

IC Interpretation 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under
FRS 129 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

IC Interpretation 8, Scope of FRS 2

1 July 2007

1 July 2007

1 July 2007

1 July 2007

1 July 2007
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

1. Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (Cont’d)

There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying
accounting policies that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

2. Significant accounting policies

The accounting pol ic ies set out below have been appl ied consistently to the periods
presented in these f inancial  statements, and have been appl ied consistently by Group
entities, unless otherwise stated.

Certain comparative amount have been reclassi f ied to conform to the current year’s
presentation (refer to Note 36 to the financial statements).

(a) Basis of consolidation

(i)  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities, including unincorporated entities, controlled by the Group.
Control exists when the Group has the ability to exercise its power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control , potentia l  voting r ights that presently are exercisable are
taken into account. Subsidiaries are consolidated using the purchase method of
accounting except for Asia File Products Sdn. Bhd., Sin Chuan Marketing Sdn. Bhd.
and Lim & Khoo Sdn. Bhd., which are consolidated using the pooling of interest
method of accounting.

Under the purchase method of accounting, the financial statements of subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated f inancial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases.

Under the pool ing-of- interests method of accounting, the results of ent it ies or
businesses under common control are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred
at the beginning of the earl iest comparative period presented or, i f  later, at the
date that common control was established. The assets and liabil it ies acquired were
recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the Group’s controll ing
shareholder’s consol idated f inancial  statements. The di f ference between the cost
of  acquis i t ion and the nominal  va lue of  the shares acquired together with the
share premium are taken to merger reserve (or adjusted against any suitable reserve
in the case of debit dif ferences). The other components of equity of the acquired
entit ies are added to the same components within Group equity

Investment in subsidiar ies are stated in the Company’s balance sheet at cost
less any impairment losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

(ii)  Associates

Associates are ent it ies , including unincorporated ent it ies , in which the Group
has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies.

Assoc iates  are accounted for in  the consol idated f inanc ia l  s tatements  us ing
the equity method unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classi f ied as held for sale) . The consol idated f inancial  statements
include the Group’s share of the income and expenses of the equity accounted
associates, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group,
from the date that signif icant inf luence commences unti l  the date that signif icant
influence ceases.
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

(ii)  Associates (Cont’d)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted
associate, the carrying amount of that interest (including any long-term investments)
is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to
the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of
the investee .

Investments in associates are stated in the Company’s balance sheet at cost less
impairment losses , i f  any, unless the investment is  c lass i f ied as held for sa le
(or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

(iii) Changes in Group composition

Where a subsidiary issues new equity shares to minority interest for cash consideration
and the issue pr ice has been establ i shed at  fa ir  va lue , the reduct ion in the
Group’s interests in the subsidiary is accounted for as a disposal of equity interest
wi th  the  correspond ing  ga in  or  loss  recogn i sed  in  the  income s ta tement .

When a group purchases a subsidiary’s equity shares from minority interest for
cash consideration and the purchase price has been established at fair value, the
accretion of the Group’s interests in the subsidiary is accounted for as a purchase of
equ i t y  i n teres t  for  wh ich  the  purchase  method o f  account ing  i s  app l i ed .

The Group treats al l other changes in group composition as equity transactions
between the Group and its minority shareholders. Any di f ference between the
Group’s share of net assets before and after the change , and any consideration
received or paid, is adjusted to or against Group reserves.

(iv) Minority interest

Minor i ty  in terest  a t  the  ba lance sheet  date , be ing  the  por t ion o f  the  net
ident i f iab le assets/net assets  (excluding goodwi l l )  of  subs id iar ies attr ibutable
to equity interests that are not owned by the Company, whether direct ly or
ind i rec t ly  through  subs id i ar ies , a re  presented  in  the  conso l ida ted  ba l ance
sheet and statement of changes in equity, within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Minority interest in the
results  of  the Group are presented on the face of  the consol idated income
statement as an allocation of the total profit or loss for the year between minority
interest and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Where losses appl icable to the minority exceed the minority’s interest in the
equi ty  of  a  subs id iar y, the excess , and any fur ther losses  appl icab le  to the
minority, are charged aga inst the Group’s interest except to the extent that
the minority has a binding obligation to, and is able to, make additional investment
to cover the losses. I f  the subsidiary subsequently reports profits , the Group’s
i n te re s t  i s  a l l oca ted  w i th  a l l  s uch  pro f i t s  un t i l  t he  m inor i t y ’s  sha re  o f
losses previously absorbed by the Group has been recovered.

(v) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unreal ised income and expenses
arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Unreal ised gains aris ing from transactions with equity accounted investees are
el iminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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2007
RM

3.45
6.84
2.27
4.60
2.84

2008
RM

3.19
6.37
2.31
5.03
3.20

1 USD
1 GBP
1 SGD
1 EURO
1 CHF

2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(b) Foreign currency transactions

(i) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies
of Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transaction.

Monetary assets and l iabi l it ies denominated in foreign currencies at the balance
sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at
that date . Non-monetary assets and l iabi l it ies denominated in foreign currencies
that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency
differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the income statement.

(ii) Operations denominated in functional currencies other than Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”)

The assets and l iabi l i t ies of operations in functional currencies other than RM,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated
to RM at exchange rates at the balance sheet date . The income and expenses of
foreign operat ions are translated to RM at exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange di f ferences aris ing on translat ion are recognised
directly in equity.

Foreign currency dif ferences are recognised in translat ion reserve . On disposal ,
accumulated translat ion di f ferences are recognised in the consol idated income
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

The closing rates used in the translation of foreign currency monetary assets and
liabil it ies and the f inancial statements of foreign operations are as follows :

(iii) Net investment in foreign operations

Exchange differences arising from monetary items that in substance form part of
the Company’s net investment in foreign operations, are recognised in the Company’s
income statement. Such exchange differences are reclassified to equity in the consolidated
financial statements. Deferred exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated
income statement upon disposal of the investment.

(c) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost/valuation less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Revalued property, plant and equipment where no revaluation policy is adopted

The Group has availed itself to the transitional provision when the MASB first
adopted IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment in 1998. Certain freehold land, land
held under leases and buildings were revalued in May 1994 and no later valuation
has been recorded for these properties.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
asset and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working
condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located. The cost of self-constructed assets
also includes the cost of materials and direct labour. Purchased software that is integral
to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(c) Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

(i) Recognition and measurement (Cont’d)

The cost of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business
combination is based on fair value at acquisition date. The fair value of property is the
estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged between a willing buyer
and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the
parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The fair
value of other items of plant and equipment is based on the quoted market prices
for similar items.

When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful
l ives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property,
plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and are recognised as “other income” or “other
operating expenses” respectively in the income statements. When revalued assets are
sold, the amounts included in the revaluation surplus reserve are transferred to
retained earnings.

(ii) Reclassification to investment property

Property that is being constructed for future use as investment property is accounted
for as property, plant and equipment until construction or development is completed, at
which time it is reclassified as investment property.

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the
property is reclassified as investment property.

(iii) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits
embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of those parts that are replaced is derecognised. The costs of the
day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the income
statement as incurred.

(iv) Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Leased
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful l ives
unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the
lease term.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Property, plant and equipment under construction are
not depreciated until the assets are ready for its intended use. Depreciation of other
property, plant and equipment over the term of their estimated useful lives are at the
following annual rates :

Buildings
Plant and machinery
Office equipment, furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles

1.5-2.5
10-25
8-25

20

%

The depreciable amount is determined after deducting the residual value.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the balance sheet date.
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(d) Leased assets

(i) Finance lease

Leases in terms of  which the Group assumes substant ia l ly  a l l  the r isks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the
leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable
to that asset.

Minimum lease payments made under f inance leases are apportioned between
the f inance expense and the reduction of the outstanding l iabi l ity. The f inance
expense is a l located to each period during the lease term so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the l iabi l i ty.
Cont i ngen t  l e a se  payment s  a re  a ccoun ted  fo r  by  rev i s i n g  the  m in imum
lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment
is confirmed.

(ii) Operating lease

Other leases are operating leases and, except for property interest held under
operating lease, the leased assets are not recognised on the Group’s balance sheet.

Land held under leases that normally has an indefinite economic life and title is not
expected to pass to the lessee by the end of the lease term is treated as an
operating lease . The payment made on entering into or acquir ing a land held
under leases is accounted for as prepaid lease payments.

Certain land held under leases were revalued in May 1994 and the Group has retained
the unamortised revalued amount as the surrogate carrying amount of prepaid lease
payments in accordance with the transitional provision in FRS 117.67A

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statements
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are
recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on business combinations and is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree.

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and cont ingent l iab i l i t ies over the cost of  acquis i t ion is  recognised immediately in
income statements.

Goodwill with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually and whenever there
is an indication that they may be impaired.

(f) Investments in equity securities

Investments in equity securities are recognised initially at fair value plus attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition :

• Investments in non-current equity securities other than investments in subsidiaries
and associates, are stated at cost less allowance for diminution in value,

• All current investments are carried at the lower of cost and market value, determined
on an aggregate portfolio/individual investment basis by category of investments.
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(f) Investments in equity securities (Cont’d)

Where in the opinion of the Directors, there is a decline other than temporary in the value
of non-current equity securities and non-current debt securities other than investment in
subsidiaries and associates, the allowance for diminution in value is recognised as an expense
in the financial year in which the decline is identified.

On disposal of an investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and its carrying
amount is recognised in the income statement.

All investments in equity securities are accounted for using settlement date accounting.
Settlement date accounting refers to :

a) the recognition of an asset on the day it is received by the entity, and

b) the derecognition on an asset and recognition of any gain or loss on disposal on the date it
is delivered.

(g) Investment properties

( i) Investment properties carried at cost

Investment proper t ies  are proper t ies  which are owned to earn renta l  income
or for capita l  appreciat ion or for both. These include land (other than prepaid
lease payments)  held for a current ly undetermined future use . Proper t ies that
are  occup ied  by  the  compan ies  in  the  Group are  accounted  for  as  owner-
occupied rather than as investment properties.

Investment propert ies are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciat ion and
any accumulated impairment losses , cons istent  with the account ing pol icy  for
property, plant and equipment as stated in accounting policy note 2(c).

Depreciat ion is  charged to the income statements on a stra ight- l ine basis over
the estimated useful lives of 50 years for buildings.

(ii) Determination of fair value

The Directors estimate the fair values of the Group’s investment properties without
involvement of independent valuers.

The fair values are based on market values, being the estimated amount for
which a property could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a
wil l ing buyer and a wil l ing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper
marketing where in  the  par t ies  had each acted knowledgeab ly, prudent ly  and
without compulsion.

In the absence of current prices in an active market, the valuations are prepared
by considering the aggregate of the estimated cash flows expected to be received
from renting out the property. A yield that reflects the specific risks inherent in the net
cash f lows then is applied to the net annual cash f lows to arrive at the property
valuation.

(h) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities) that are expected
to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use are classified as
held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets (or components
of a disposal group) are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.
Thereafter generally the assets (or disposal group) are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less cost to sell . Any impairment loss on a disposal group first
is allocated to goodwill , and then to remaining assets and liabil ities on pro rata basis,
except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, and investment properties
which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Impairment
losses on in it ia l  c lass i f icat ion as held for sa le and subsequent ga ins or losses on
remeasurement are recognised in the income statements. Gains are not recognised in excess
of any cumulative impairment loss.
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(i) Impairment of assets

The carrying amounts of assets except for f inancial assets (other than investments in
subsidiaries and associate, inventories and non current assets classified as held for sale) are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.

If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill that
have indefinite useful l ives or that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount is
estimated at each reporting date.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use
and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the
purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash
inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). The goodwill acquired
in a bus iness combinat ion, for the purpose of  impairment test ing , i s  a l located to
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is recognised directly against any revaluation surplus for the asset
to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation
surplus for that same asset. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statements.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (groups of units) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets,
impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. Reversals of impairment losses
are credited to the income statement in the year in which the reversals are recognised, unless
it reverses an impairment loss on a revalued asset, in which case it is credited directly
to revaluation surplus. Where an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously
recognised in the income statement, a reversal of that impairment loss is also recognised in
the income statement.

(j) Receivables

Receivables are initially recognised at their cost when the contractual right to receive cash or another
financial asset from another entity is established.

Subsequent to initial recognition, receivables are stated at cost less allowance for doubtful debts.

Receivables are not held for the purpose of trading.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories
is based on the first-in first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the
inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of work-in-
progress and manufactured inventories, cost includes an appropriate share of production
overheads based on normal operating capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

The fair value of inventories acquired in a business combination is determined based on
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion
and sale, and a reasonable profit margin based on the effort required to complete and sell
the inventories.
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances and deposits with banks and
highly liquid investments which have an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose
of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts
and pledged deposits, if any.

(m) Provisions

A provision is recognised if , as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Contingent liabilities

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits wil l  be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent l iabil ity,
unless the probabi l ity of outf low of economic benefits is remote . Possible obl igat ions,
whose existence wil l  only be conf irmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent l iabi l it ies unless the probabil ity
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness
of  other companies with in i ts  group, the Company considers these to be insurance
arrangements, and accounts for them as such. In this respect, the Company treats the
guarantee contract as a contingent l iabi l ity unti l  such time as it becomes probable that
the Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

(n) Payables

Payables are measured init ial ly and subsequently at cost. Payables are recognised when
there is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity.

(o) Loans and borrowings

Loans and borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and
redemption va lue being recognised in the income statement over the per iod of  the
loans and borrowings using the effective interest method.

(p) Tax expense

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax expense is recognised in the income
statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which
case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for reporting purposes
and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following
temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets
or liabil ities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit (tax loss). Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are
expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date .
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(p) Tax expense (Cont’d)

Deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which temporary difference can be uti l ised. Deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(q) Revenue recognition

(i) Goods sold

Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at fair value of the consideration received
or receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue
is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible
return of goods can be estimated reliably, and there is no continuing management
involvement with the goods.

(ii) Rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised in the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(iii) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(iv) Commission income

When the Group acts as the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a
transaction, the revenue recognised is the net amount of commission made by
the Group.

(r) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses,
paid annual leave and sick leave are measured on an undiscounted basis and are
expensed as the related service is provided.

The Group’s contribution to statutory pension funds are charged to the income
statements in the year to which they relate. Once the contributions have been paid,
the Group has no further payment obligations.

 (ii) Share-based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that
the employees become uncondit ional ly  ent i t led to the opt ions . The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options
that are vested.

The fair value of employee share options is measured using a binomial lattice model.
Measurement inputs inc lude share pr ice on measurement date , exercise pr ice
of the instrument, expected volatil ity (based on weighted average historic volatil ity
adjusted for changes expected due to publ ic ly avai lable information) , weighted
average expected l i fe  of  the instruments (based on histor ica l  experience and
general option holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest
rate (based on government bonds). Service and non-market performance conditions
attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining  fair value.
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2. Significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

(s) Share capital

(i) Shares issue expenses

Incrementa l  costs  d irect ly  at tr ibutab le  to i ssue of  shares  and share opt ions
classified as equity are recognised as a deduction from equity.

(ii) Repurchase of share capital

When share cap i ta l  recogn ised as  equ i ty  i s  repurchased , the amount  o f  the
consideration paid, including directly attributable costs, is recognised as a deduction
from equity  and is  not reva lued for subsequent changes in  the fa ir  va lue or
market price of shares. Repurchased shares are classi f ied as treasury shares and
are presented as a deduction from total equity.

Where treasury shares are distributed as share dividends, the cost of the treasury
shares is applied in the reduction of the share premium account or distributable
reserves, or both.

Where treasury shares are reissued by re-sale in the open market, the difference
between the  sa les  cons iderat ion  net  o f  d i rect ly  a t t r ibutab le  costs  and the
carrying amount of the treasury shares is recognised in equity.

(t) Interest income and borrowing costs

Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

A l l  borrowing  cos t s  a re  recogn i sed  in  the  income s ta tement  us ing  the  e f fec t i ve
interest method, in the period in which they are incurred except to the extent that
they are capita l ised as being direct ly attr ibutable to the acquis i t ion, construct ion or
product ion of  an asset  which necessar i ly  takes  a  substant ia l  per iod of  t ime to be
prepared for its intended use.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expend i t u re  fo r  t he  a s se t  i s  be i n g  i n cu rred , borrow ing  co s t s  a re  be i n g
incurred and activit ies that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
a l l  the act iv i t ies  necessar y to prepare the qua l i fy ing  asset  for  i t s  intended use or
sale are interrupted or completed.

(u) Earnings per ordinary share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares.
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the per iod. Di luted EPS i s  determined by d iv id ing the prof i t  or loss  attr ibutab le
to  ord inar y  shareho lders  by  the  we i gh ted  average  number  o f  ord inar y  shares
outstanding after adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential on ordinary shares, which
comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees, where applicable.

(v) Segment reporting

A segment  i s  a  d i s t ingu ishab le  component  o f  the Group that  i s  engaged e i ther  in
providing products or services (business segment), or in providing products or services
within a part icular economic environment (geographical  segment) , which is subject to
risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP (Cont’d)

Certain freehold land and buildings of the Group are shown at Directors’ valuation based on
a valuation exercise carried out in May 1994 by professional valuers on an open market
value basis. Subsequent addit ions are shown at cost while deletions are at valuation or
cost as appropriate.

It is the Group’s policy to state property, plant and equipment at cost. The revaluation
of cer ta in propert ies of  subsidiar ies in 1994 was not intended to ef fect a change in
accounting pol icy to one of revaluat ion of propert ies . Hence , in accordance with the
trans i t iona l  prov i s ions  i s sued by  Ma lays i an  Account ing  S tandards  Board  (“MASB”)
upon adoption of International Accounting Standards No. 16 (Revised) on Property, Plant
and Equ ipment , the  va luat ion o f  these  proper t ies  has  not  been updated and they
continue to be stated at their existing carrying amounts less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment loss, if any.

Had  the  reva l ued  p roper t i e s  been  c a rr i ed  a t  h i s to r i c a l  co s t  l e s s  a c cumu l a t ed
depreciat ion, the carr y ing amount of  the reva lued proper t ies  that  would have been
included in the financial statements at the end of the year would be as follows :

Net Book
Value
RM

Accumulated
Depreciation

RM
Cost
RM

2008

Freehold land
Buildings

Total

2007

Freehold land
Buildings

Total

345,836
1,283,293

1,629,129

345,836
1,283,293

1,629,129

-
(437,794)

(437,794)

-
(412,128)

(412,128)

345,836
845,499

1,191,335

345,836
871,165

1,217,001

Security

Certain freehold land and buildings of the Group with carrying amount of RM6,728,026
(2007 : Nil) are pledged to a financial institution as security for borrowings as disclosed in
Note 19 to the financial statements.
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Note

Group

Cost/valuation

At 1 April 2006
Effect of adopting FRS 117

At 1 April 2006, restated

Transfer to assets held for sale

At 31 March 2007/1 April 2007, restated

At 31 March 2008

Amortisation

At 1 April 2006
Effect of adopting FRS 117

At 1 April 2006, restated

Amortisation for the year
Transfer to assets held for sale

At 31 March 2007/1 April 2007, restated

Amortisation for the year

At 31 March 2008

Carrying amounts

At 1 April 2006, restated

At 31 March 2007/1 April 2007, restated

At 31 March 2008

4. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

Unexpired
period

less than
50 years

RM
Total
RM

Unexpired
period

more than
50 years

RM

-
2,294,116

2,294,116

-

2,294,116

2,294,116

-
382,412

382,412

38,875
-

421,287

38,875

460,162

1,911,704

1,872,829

1,833,954

-
240,000

240,000

(240,000)

-

-

-
22,977

22,977

-
(22,977)

-

-

-

217,023

-

-

-
2,534,116

2,534,116

(240,000)

2,294,116

2,294,116

-
405,389

405,389

38,875
(22,977)

421,287

38,875

460,162

2,128,727

1,872,829

1,833,954

3

3
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

Cost

At 1 April /31 March

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April
Depreciation for the year

At 31 March

Carrying amounts

At 1 April/31 March

5. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - GROUP

2007
RM

2008
RM

2,066,583

265,791
41,332

307,123

1,759,460

2,066,583

224,459
41,332

265,791

1,800,792

The Directors estimate the fair value of the investment properties to be approximately RM2.2 million
(2007 : RM2.2 million) at year end.

Investment properties comprise factory building and commercial properties that are leased to
third party. The leases are entered into for a period of 3 years. Subsequent renewals are to be
negotiated with the lessee.

The following are recognised in the income statement in respect of investment properties :

2007
RM

2008
RM

Rental income
Direct operating expenses
- income generating investment properties

136,500

14,217

132,000

14,217

6. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY

2007
RM

2008
RM

Unquoted shares, at cost
Add: Share based payment allocated to
           subsidiaries

21,352,545

843,606

22,196,151

21,352,545

-

21,352,545

Buildings



6 4

NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

6. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY (Cont’d)

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows :

Manufacture and supply
of stationery products.

Sin Chuan Marketing Sdn. Bhd. 100% 100% Malaysia

*Not audited by KPMG

Dormant.Lim & Khoo Sdn. Bhd. 100% 100% Malaysia

Trading of stationery
products, graphic
designing and desktop
publishing.

Formosa Technology Sdn. Bhd. 100% 100% Malaysia

Trading of stationery
products.

ABBA Marketing Sdn. Bhd. 100% 100% Malaysia

Manufacture and supply
of plastic related
products.

AFP Composite Sdn. Bhd. 100% 100% Malaysia

Import and distribution
of stationery products.

Premier Stationery Limited* 75% 75% United Kingdom

Trading of stationery
products.

Premier Stationery Pte. Ltd.* 100% 100% Singapore

Name of Company
Percentage of
Equity Held

Place of
Incorporation

Principal
Activities

20072008

Manufacture and supply
of stationery products.

Asia File Products Sdn. Bhd. 100% 100% Malaysia

Subsidiary of Asia File Products Sdn. Bhd.

Plastoreg Smidt GmbH* 100% - Germany Manufacture and
distribution of dividers
and indices

7. INVESTMENTS IN AN ASSOCIATE - GROUP

2007
RM

2008
RM

At cost
Unquoted shares 5,000 5,000
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

7. INVESTMENTS IN  AN  ASSOCIATE - GROUP (Cont'd)

Details of the associates are as follows :

Summary of financial information on the associate :

Name of Company
Percentage of
Equity Held

Place of
Incorporation

Principal
Activities

Financial
Year

Mefajaya Sdn. Bhd.

2007

50.0% 50.0% Malaysia 31 MarchTrading of
stationery and
computer forms

2008

2008
Mefajaya Sdn. Bhd.

2007
Mefajaya Sdn. Bhd.

Revenue
RM

Profit/(Loss)
after tax

RM

Total
assets

RM

Total
liabilities

RM

*1,328,000

1,288,000

*6,000

(2,000)

*446,000

532,000

*294,000

385,000

            *        Based on unaudited financial statements

            The result of the associate has not been equity accounted for as it is not material to the Group.
           There is no share of associated company’s contingent liabilities incurred jointly with other investors.

2007
RM

2008
RM

Represented by:

          Quoted securities in Malaysia
          Deposits with licensed financial
          institutions

8. OTHER INVESTMENTS - GROUP

2007
RM

2008
RM

Investment portfolio

Investment securities

-

1,008,900

1,008,900

5,268,678

-

5,268,678

Investment portfolio

In previous year, the Group placed funds with a fund manager who was given discretionary
powers within certain guidelines to manage the funds. The funds under management were
placed with Pheim Asset Management Sdn. Bhd.

-

-

-

1,606,248

3,662,430

5,268,678
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

8. OTHER INVESTMENTS - GROUP (Cont’d)

Details of disposed other investments stated at cost are as follows :

2007
RM

2008
RM

At cost
Unquoted non-convertible corporate bonds 1,008,900 -

The unquoted non-convertible corporate bonds will be matured on 28 May 2009.

Goodwil l  has been a l located to the Group’s cash-generat ing units (“CGU”) ident i f ied
accord ing  to  the  geograph i c a l  l oca t ion  o f  the  subs id i a r y  company ’s  opera t ions .
The aggregate carr y ing amount of  goodwi l l  a l located was RM30.2 mi l l ion (2006: Ni l ) .

Goodwi l l  i s  a l located to Group ’s  CGU expected to benef i t  f rom the synerg ies  o f
the acqu is i t ion . For annua l  impa irment  test ing  purpose , the recoverab le  amount  o f
the CGU, is based on their value-in-use. The value in use calculations apply a discounted
cash f low model us ing cash f low project ions based on the f inancia l  forecast . The key
assumpt ions  for  the  computa t ion  o f  va lue - in -use  inc lude  the  d i scount  ra tes  and
growth rates appl ied approximately 10%. Discount rates used are based on the pre-tax
weighted average cost of  capita l  p lus an appropriate r isk premium, where appl icable ,
at  the assessment of  the respect ive CGU. Cash f low project ions are based on f ive
years financial budgets.

9. GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION - GROUP

2007
RM

2008
RM

At 1 April
Acquisition of a subsidiary

At 31 March

-
30,234,456

30,234,456

-
-

-

* The carrying amount of investment at point of disposal was net of dividend accrued
from quoted securities amounting to RM7,866 which was included in the carrying
amount of quoted securities in previous year. The accrued dividend received during
the year was transferred to deposit with licensed financial institution within the
investment portfolio.

The market value of the quoted securities and investment portfolio as at end of previous
financial year is as disclosed under the fair value of financial instruments in Note 33 to
the financial statements.

Investment securities

2007
RM

2008
RM

            Proceeds from disposal
            Carrying amount of other investments
            disposed*

            Gain on disposal of investments

1,706,761

(1,598,382)

108,379

6,157,996

(5,675,721)

482,275
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

9. GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION - GROUP (Cont’d)

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumption would not
cause the carrying amount of the goodwill to exceed the recoverable amount of the CGU.
Based on this review, there is no evidence of impairment on the Group’s goodwill.

10. RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

10.1 Trade receivables

The Group’s normal credit terms for trade receivables range from 30 to 90 days (2007 : 30 to 90 days).

Significant trade receivables outstanding at year end that are not in the functional currencies
of the Group entities are as follows :

GROUP COMPANY

Current

Trade

Trade receivables

Non-trade

Amount due from
               subsidiaries

Other receivables
Deposits
Prepayments

Non-current

Non-trade

Amount due from
               subsidiaries

10.1

10.2

10.2

NOTE

-

78,781,097
-
-
-

78,781,097

78,781,097

44,315,000

2008
RM

-

52,585,115
-

91,706
-

52,676,821

52,676,821

44,315,000

2007
RM

46,979,250

-
3,844,248
1,595,213
1,491,909

6,931,370

53,910,620

-

2008
RM

32,384,075

-
908,880

2,427,749
503,120

3,839,749

36,223,824

-

2007
RM

10.2 Amount due from subsidiaries

The current non-trade receivables due from subsid iar ies are unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand.

The long term non-trade receivables due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
are not repayable within the next twelve months except in so far as such repayment
by subsidiaries wil l not adversely affect the abil ity of the respective subsidiaries to meet
their l iabil it ies when due.

Foreign currency

USD
GBP
EURO
CHF

GROUP

2008
RM

2007
RM

3,196,645
4,011,023

113,908
243,728

2,775,910
-

169,378
-
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

11. INVENTORIES - GROUP

12. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE - GROUP

The assets classified as held for sale in previous financial year related to the property located in
Selangor whereby sale was completed in March 2008.

2007
RM

2008
RM

Land and building

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

557,599
(85,142)

472,457

-
-

-

13. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Short term deposits with
               licensed banks

Cash and bank balances

GROUP COMPANY

2008
RM

2007
RM

2008
RM

2007
RM

51,477,675
9,108,333

60,586,008

61,579,659
2,946,755

64,526,414

4,248,704
175,692

4,424,396

7,616,730
15,137

7,631,867

Significant cash and cash equivalents outstanding at year end that are not in the functional
currencies of the Group entities are as follows :

Foreign currency

USD
GBP
EURO
SGD

10,223,641
10,854,223
2,140,058

10,231

8,972,078
1,944,884

691,750
618,692

GROUP

2008
RM

2007
RM

2007
RM

2008
RM

At cost

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Manufactured inventories

40,905,182
5,131,841

27,603,410

73,640,433

26,922,177
2,935,585

17,431,967

47,289,729
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

15. TREASURY SHARES - GROUP/COMPANY

The shareholders of the Company, by a special resolution passed at the Extraordinary
General Meeting held on 25 September 2001 approved the Company’s plan to purchase
its own shares.

During the financial year, the Company repurchased 1,353,700 of its issued share capital
from the open market at an average price of RM5.66 per share . The total consideration
paid was RM7,665,744 including transaction costs of RM22,894. The repurchase transactions
were f inanced by internal ly  generated funds. The shares repurchased are reta ined as
treasury shares.

During the financial year, the Company sold 2,477,600 treasury shares in the open market.
The average resale price of the treasury shares was RM9.22 per share.

As at 31 March 2008, a total of 47,100 (2007 : 1,171,000) ordinary shares were held as
treasur y shares . The number of  outstand ing ord inar y  shares  o f  RM1 each in  i ssue
after deducting the treasury shares held is 113,364,180 (2007 : 69,504,000). Treasury
shares held have no rights to voting, dividends and participation in other distribution.

14. SHARE CAPITAL - GROUP/COMPANY

2008 2007

RM
No. of
Shares

Ordinary shares of RM1 
   each

Authorised :

At beginning of year
Increased during the year

At end of year

Issued and fully paid :

Balance at 1 April
Bonus issue (3 for 5)

Issued under ESOS, for cash
               at :

   - RM2.26 per share
   - RM3.12 per share
   - RM2.23 per share
   - RM3.14 per share*
   - RM3.57 per share
   - RM4.49 per share
   - RM5.02 per share
   - RM5.71 per share

Balance at 31 March

100,000,000
400,000,000

500,000,000

70,675,000
42,500,280

-
-
-
77,200
-
-

158,800
-

236,000

113,411,280

100,000,000
400,000,000

500,000,000

70,675,000
42,500,280

-
-
-
77,200
-
-

158,800
-

236,000

113,411,280

RM

100,000,000
-

100,000,000

70,495,200
-

6,600
2,600
6,200

-
36,800

123,400
-
4,200

179,800

70,675,000

No. of
Shares

100,000,000
-

100,000,000

70,495,200
-

6,600
2,600
6,200

-
36,800

123,400
-
4,200

179,800

70,675,000

* Exercise price of the options adjusted for the bonus issue during the year.



7 0

NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

15. TREASURY SHARES - GROUP/COMPANY (Cont’d)

Details of the sale of treasury shares are as follows :

Average
resale
price
RM

Highest
resale
price
RM

Lowest
resale
price
RM

Number of
treasury

share

Total
consideration

received
RM

December, 2007 9.22 9.30 8.95 2,477,600 22,874,730*

* Before deducting transaction cost of RM275,862

Non-distributable :

   Exchange fluctuation 
      reserve

Balance at 1 April
Difference on exchange for  
   the year

Balance at 31 March

Share premium on 
   ordinary shares

Balance at 1 April
Issue of shares at :
   - RM2.23 per share
   - RM2.26 per share
   - RM3.12 per share
   - RM3.14 per share
   - RM3.57per share
   - RM4.49 per share
   - RM5.02 per share
   - RM5.71 per share
Sale of treasury shares
Share options exercised
Bonus issue
Share issue expenses

Balance at 31 March

Share options reserves

Distributable :

Retained earnings

(174,747)

1,051,295

876,548

7,504,744

-
-
-

165,208
-
-

638,376
-

9,706,148
144,879

(7,504,744)
(111,871)

10,542,740

698,727

99,267,367

111,385,382

16. RESERVES

GROUP COMPANY

2008
RM

2007
RM

2008
RM

2007
RM

(78,949)

(95,798)

(174,747)

6,938,266

7,626
8,316
5,512

-
94,576

430,666
-
19,782
-
-
-
-

7,504,744

-

112,014,862

119,344,859

-

-

-

7,504,744

-
-
-

165,208
-
-

638,376
-

9,706,148
144,879

(7,504,744)
(111,871)

10,542,740

698,727

16,321,046

27,562,513

-

-

-

6,938,266

7,626
8,316
5,512
-

94,576
430,666

-
19,782
-
-
-
-

7,504,744

-

45,398,991

52,903,735
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2007
RM

2008
RM

Property, plant and equipment
    - revaluation
    - capital allowances
    - fair value adjustment
Provisions

965,300
4,519,700
1,820,474
(382,000)

6,923,474

985,000
4,404,000

-
70,000

5,459,000

NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

16. RESERVES (Cont’d)

Movements of retained earnings and reserves are shown in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

Subject to agreement by the Inland Revenue Board, the Company has sufficient Section 108
tax credit and tax exempt income to frank/distribute its entire retained earnings if paid
out as dividends.

The Malaysian Budget 2008 introduced a s ingle t ier company income tax system with
effect from year of assessment 2008. As such, the Section 108 tax credit as at 31 December
2007 will be available to the Company until such time the credit is fully util ised or upon
expiry of the six-year transitional period on 31 December 2013, whichever is earlier.

17. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES - GROUP

Recognised deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities are attributable to the following :

No deferred tax asset has been recognised for the following item :

Deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of the tax losses carry-forward
because it is not probable that future taxable profit wil l  be avai lable against which the
Group can utilise the benefits there from.

The comparative figures have been restated to reflect the revised tax loss carry-forwards
available to the Group.

Movement in temporary difference during the year

2007
RM

2008
RM

1,424,000 663,000
Tax losses carry-forward of a
   foreign subsidiary

Property, plant and
   equipment
   - revaluation

                - capital allowance
                - fair value

      adjustment
             Provisions

985,000
4,063,000

-
253,000

5,301,000

-
341,000

-
(183,000)

158,000

985,000
4,404,000

-
70,000

5,459,000

(19,700)
115,700

-
(452,000)

(356,000)

965,300
4,519,700

1,820,474
(382,000)

6,923,474

At
1.4.2006

RM

Recognised
in income

statements
(Note 25)

RM

At
31.3.2007

RM

Recognised
in income

statements
(Note 25)

RM

At
31.3.2008

RM

-
-

1,820,474
-

1,820,474

Acquisition
of a

subsidiary
(Note 34)

RM

Group
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

18. PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

GROUP COMPANY

Trade

Trade payables

Non-trade

Amount due to
                subsidiaries

Other payables
 Accrued
   expenses

18.1

18.2

NOTE
2008
RM

2007
RM

2008
RM

2007
RM

26,654,707

-
6,812,818

4,441,301

11,254,119

37,908,826

9,072,932

-
1,261,175

1,331,373

2,592,548

11,665,480

-

-
121,270

528,001

649,271

649,271

-

1,672,973
79,991

235,000

1,987,964

1,987,964

18.2 Amount due to subsidiaries

The  non - t r a de  p ay ab l e s  d ue  t o  s ub s i d i a r i e s  a re  un s e cu red , i n t e re s t  f re e  a nd
repayable on demand.

18.1 Trade payables

The Group’s normal credit terms for trade payables range from 30 to 90 days (2007 : 30 to 90 days).

Significant trade payable outstanding at year end that are not in the functional currencies of
the Group entities are as follows :

Foreign currency

USD
GBP
EURO

3,452,962
470,635
173,438

1,437,875
185

192,810

2008
RM

GROUP

2007
RM
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

19. BANK BORROWINGS - GROUP

Group

2008

Term loan
   - RM
   - Euro

Bank overdrafts
   - RM
   - Euro
   - Sterling
     Pound

Foreign
   currency loan
   - USD

Finance lease
   liabilities
   - Euro

Over
5 years

RM

2012
2010

2009

2009-2012

20,000,000
8,299,500

237,516
598,450

1,174,896

3,662,413

1,667,021

35,639,796

4,000,000
3,018,000

237,516
598,450

1,174,896

3,662,413

460,426

13,151,701

4,000,000
3,018,000

-
-

-

-

407,198

7,425,198

12,000,000
2,263,500

-
-

-

-

799,397

15,062,897

-
-

-
-

-

-

-

-

Year of
maturity

Total
RM

Within 1
year
 RM

1-2 years
RM

2-5 years
RM

19.1 TERMS AND DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE

Current

   Secured
       Term loan

   Unsecured
       Term loan
      Foreign currency loan
      Bank overdrafts
      Finance lease liabilities

Non-current

Secured
       Term loan

Unsecured
       Term loan
       Finance lease liabilities

2007
RM

2008
RMNOTE

19.1

19.1

19.2

19.1

19.1
19.2

3,018,000

4,000,000
3,662,413
2,010,862

460,426

13,151,701

5,281,500

16,000,000
1,206,595

22,488,095

-

-
111,090
301,812

-

412,902

-

-
-

-
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

19. BANK BORROWINGS - GROUP (Cont’d)

The Group leases production plant and equipment amounting to RM2,407,081 (2007 : Nil)
under finance lease expiring from 2009 to 2012.

The bank overdrafts are subject to interest at 1.75% (2007 : 1.75%) per annum above lenders’
base lending rates.

The foreign currency loan is denominated in US Dollars and is subject to interest at 0.50%
(2007 : 0.50%) per annum above the bank’s cost of funds.

The term loans are subject to interest at 0.3% per annum above the bank’s cost of fund and
1.05% per annum over EURIBOR for term loan denominated in Ringgit Malaysia and Euro
respectively.

The finance lease liabilities are subject to interest rates ranging from 5.27% to 6.00% (2007 :Nil)
per annum.

For details of security, please refer to Note 3 to the financial statements.

19.2 FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES

460,426

1,206,595

1,667,021

Group

Less than
   one year
Between
   one and

                              five years

Minimum
lease

payments
2008
RM

532,230

1,302,290

1,834,520

Interest
2008
RM

71,804

95,695

167,499

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Principal
2008
RM

Minimum
lease

payments
2007
RM

Interest
2007
RM

Principal
2007
RM

19.1 TERMS AND DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE (Cont’d)

Group

2007

Bank overdrafts
   - RM

Foreign
                            currency loan

Over
5 years

RM

2008

301,812

111,090

412,902

301,812

111,090

412,902

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Year of
maturity

Total
RM

Within 1
year
 RM

1-2 years
RM

2-5 years
RM



7 5

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS - GROUP/COMPANY

Share Option Plan

The Group offers vested share options over ordinary shares to full time executive Directors
and employees who have been in the employment of the Group for a continuous period
of at  least  s ix (6) months.  The number and weighted average exercise pr ice of  share
options are as follows:

NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

The options outstanding as at 31 March 2008 have an exercise price of RM3.14 and a weighted
average contractual life of 4 years.

During the year, 158,800 and 77,200 share options were exercised prior to the bonus issue
and subsequent to bonus issue respectively. The weighted average share price for the year
was RM4.36, after adjusted for the effect from bonus issue.

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is based on the fair value
of share options granted, measured using a binomial lattice model, with the following inputs :

Fair value of share options and
   assumptions

Fair value at grant date
Fair value after adjusted for bonus issue

Directors
2008

Executives Other

RM0.70
RM0.44

RM0.69
RM0.43

RM0.71
RM0.44

Weighted
average

exercise price
2008
RM

Number of
options 2008

Weighted
average

exercise price
2007
RM

Number of
options 2007

Outstanding at 1 April
Granted during the year
Exercised prior to bonus issue
Adjustment on bonus issue of 3
   ordinary shares for 5 existing
   ordinary shares held
Exercised after bonus issue
Lapsed due to
   - resignation
   - expiry

Outstanding at 31 March

Exercisable at 31 March

-
5.02
5.02

3.14

3.14

-
3,405,000
(158,800)

1,947,720
(77,200)

(241,600)
-

4,875,120

189,360

4.69
-

4.15

-
-

4.70
5.09

463,200
-

(179,800)

-
-

(40,600)
(242,800)

-

-
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS - GROUP/COMPANY (Cont’d)

Directors
2008

Executives Other

Fair value of share options and
   assumptions
Exercise price
   - at grant date
   - after adjusted for bonus shares issued
Expected volatility (weighted average
   volatility)
Option life (expected weighted average
   life)
Expected dividends
Risk-free interest rate (based on Malaysian

               government bonds)

RM5.02
RM3.14

19.42%

5 years
5.70%

3.45%

RM5.02
RM3.14

19.42%

5 years
5.70%

3.45%

RM5.02
RM3.14

19.42%

5 years
5.70%

3.45%

Value of employee services received for issue of share options

Options granted in 2008 recognised as
   expenses - staff cost 843,606

2008
RM

GROUP

2007
RM

-

GROUP COMPANY

2008
RM

2007
RM

2008
RM

2007
RM

Invoiced value of goods
   sold less discounts and

               returns
Gross dividends

               receivable from
                subsidiaries

Commission income

208,351,564

-
65,055

208,416,619

132,354,681

-
78,454

132,433,135

-

32,670,400
65,055

32,735,455

-

64,000,000
78,454

64,078,454

21. REVENUE
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

After charging :

   Auditors’ remuneration
     Statutory audit
        KPMG
         - Current year
         - Prior year
     Other auditors
         - Current year
  Other services
        KPMG
         - Current year
         - Prior year
  Bad debts written off
  Directors’ emoluments
     Directors of the
        Company
         - Fees
         - Remuneration
     Other Directors
         - Fees
         - Remuneration
         - Consultancy fee paid

to a company in which
a Director of a

             subsidiary has a
substantial

             financial interest
   Amortisation of prepaid
     lease payments (Note 4)
  Depreciation
         - property, plant and

equipment (Note 3)
         - investment
            properties (Note 5)
  Rental of premises
  Plant and equipment
     written off
  Loss on foreign
     exchange
         - realised
         - unrealised

22. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Profit before tax is arrived at :

GROUP

2008
RM

2007
RM

(Restated)
2008
RM

2007
RM

COMPANY

54,000
8,000

175,769

10,200
2,400
1,581

256,500
667,056

36,720
429,463

300,983

38,875

6,461,573

41,332
2,032,772

3,960

686,501
1,634,124

46,000
-

38,706

10,300
-
9,805

244,000
652,138

36,240
-

323,190

38,875

4,927,077

41,332
921,850

623

-
272,425

9,000
3,000

-

3,000
1,000
-

242,000
-

-
-

-

-

-

-
-

-

-
-

6,000
-

-

4,500
-
-

222,000
-

-
-

-

-

-

-
-

-

-
-
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

22. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Cont’d)

GROUP

2008
RM

2007
RM

(Restated)
2008
RM

2007
RM

COMPANY

  Interest expense
  Loss on disposal of plant
     and equipment
  Provision for doubtful
     debts

  and crediting :

  Dividends income
     (gross) from :
         - Quoted investments
         - Subsidiaries
  Interest income
  Gain on foreign
     exchange - realised
  Gain on disposal of plant
     and equipment
  Rental income
  Gain on disposal of other
     investments (Note 8)
  Gain on disposal of
     assets held for sale

674,144

-

82,001

-
-

2,207,426

-

130,033
153,500

108,379

97,543

402,953

19,299

-

194,074
-

3,065,439

2,937,050

-
132,000

764,842

-

792

-

-

-
32,670,400

282,243

-

-
-

-

-

665

-

-

-
64,000,000

200,529

-

-
-

19,879

-

The estimated monetary value of benefits received by the Directors of the Company
otherwise than in cash from the Group amounted to RM17,400 (2007 : RM17,400).

There are no other key management personnel  apar t  from a l l  the Directors of  the
Group having au thor i t y  and  re spons ib i l i t y  fo r  p l ann ing , d i rec t i n g  and  con t ro l l i n g
the activities of the Group either directly or indirectly.

23. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

The key management personnel  compensat ion i s  as  fo l lows :

Directors of the
   Company
       - Fees
       - Remuneration
Other directors
       - Fees
       - Remuneration

GROUP

2008
RM

2007
RM

2008
RM

2007
RM

COMPANY

256,500
667,056

44,220
429,463

1,397,239

244,000
652,138

36,240
-

932,378

242,000
-

-
-

242,000

222,000
-

-
-

222,000
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GROUP

2008
RM

2007
RM

2008
RM

2007
RM

COMPANY

Staff costs 22,259,735 11,578,447 - -

Included in staff costs of the Group is an amount of RM1,323,560  (2007 : RM842,123)
representing contributions made to the defined contribution plan, the statutory pension
funds.

NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

24. EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

25. TAX EXPENSE

Recognised in the income statements

Current tax expense

   Malaysian - current
                  - prior year
   Overseas - current
                  - prior year

Total current tax

Deferred tax expense

   - current year
   - prior year

Total deferred tax

Total tax expense

8,097,977
(2,847)

804,272
1,303

8,900,705

(320,550)
(35,450)

(356,000)

8,544,705

6,820,271
144,613
83,990

554

7,049,428

158,000
-

158,000

7,207,428

8,301,977
(28,746)

-
-

8,273,231

-
-

-

8,273,231

12,915,271
(19,356)

-
-

12,895,915

-
-

-

12,895,915

GROUP

2008
RM

2007
RM

2008
RM

2007
RM

COMPANY
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

25. TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

Reconciliation of effective tax expense

GROUP

2008
RM

2007
RM

2008
RM

2007
RM

COMPANY

* With ef fect from year of assessment 2004, companies with paid-up capital  of
RM2.5 million and below at the beginning of the basis period for a year of assessment
are subject to corporate tax at 20% on chargeable income up to RM500,000.

** The corporate tax rates are at 27% for year of assessment 2007, 26% for year
assessment 2008 and 25% for the subsequent year of assessment. Consequently
deferred tax assets and l iabil it ies are measured using these tax rates.

Profit before tax

Tax at Malaysian tax
   rate at 26%

                (2007 : 27%)
Effect of lower tax rate
   for certain subsidiaries *
Effect of different tax
   rates in foreign

    jurisdictions
Effect of change in tax
   rates **
Non-deductible expenses
Tax exempt income
Tax incentives
Deferred tax assets not
   recognised
Others

(Over)/Under provision
   in prior year

Tax expense

49,262,173

12,808,165

(145,523)

(574,788)

(170,707)
654,869

(605,915)
(4,110,198)

714,000
11,796

8,581,699

(36,994)

8,544,705�

39,614,714

10,695,973

(168,235)

(69,790)

(201,538)
163,860

(653,134)
(2,686,870)

14,000
(32,005)

7,062,261

145,167

7,207,428

32,660,249

8,491,665

-

-

-
21,814

(221,687)
-

-
10,185

8,301,977

(28,746)

8,273,231

63,948,219

17,266,019

-

-

-
28,517

(4,379,265)
-

-
-

12,915,271

(19,356)

12,895,915
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

26. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE - GROUP

Basic earnings per ordinary share

The ca l cu l a t ion  o f  bas i c  earn ings  per  ord inar y  share  i s  based  on the  net  pro f i t
attr ibutable to the shareholders of RM40,717,468 (2007 : RM32,407,286) and on the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year of 111,966,864
(2007 : 112,150,284) calculated as follows:

2007

Issued ordinary shares at 1 April
Effect of shares issued during the year
Effect of treasury shares held
Effect of bonus issue

Weighted average number of ordinary
               shares at 31 March

70,495,200
61,321

(906,517)
42,500,280

112,150,284

2008

113,175,280
76,135

(1,284,551)
-

111,966,864

Diluted earnings per ordinary share

The ca lcu lat ion of  d i luted earn ings  per  ord inar y  share i s  based on the net  prof i t
attr ibutable to the shareholders of RM40,717,468 (2007 : RM32,407,286) and on the
we i gh t ed  ave r a ge  number  o f  o rd i n a r y  s h a re s  ou t s t a nd i n g  du r i n g  t he  ye a r  o f
RM113,331,003  (2007 : 112,150,284) calculated as follows :

2007

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
                at 31 March

Dilution impact of unexercised share options

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
                (diluted) at 31 March

2008

111,966,864
1,364,139

113,331,003

112,150,284
-

112,150,284
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

27. DIVIDENDS

A f ina l  d iv idend of  20% less 27% tax amount ing to RM9,967,113 proposed in the last
f inanc ia l  year and approved by members in  the Annual  Genera l  Meet ing was pa id on
30  November  2007  and  accord ing ly, th i s  amount  has  been  appropr i a ted  f rom the
retained earnings in this financial year.

At the for thcoming Annual  Genera l  Meet ing , a  f ina l  d iv idend of  15% less  25% tax in
respect  o f  the  f inanc ia l  year  ended 31 March 2008 wi l l  be  proposed for  members ’
approva l . These  f inanc ia l  s ta tements  do not  re f lect  th i s  f ina l  d iv idend which , when
approved by members , wi l l  be accounted for as an appropriat ion of  reta ined earnings
from shareholders’ funds in the financial year ending 31 March 2009.

The d iv idends  per  ord inar y  share  as  d i sc losed  in  the  Income Sta tement  take  in to
account the total interim and proposed final dividends for the year.

28. RELATED PARTIES - GROUP/COMPANY

For the purposes of  these f inanc ia l  s tatements , par t ies  are cons idered to be re lated
to the Group or the Company i f  the Group or the Company has the ab i l i ty, d irect ly
or  ind i rect ly, to  contro l  the  par ty  or  exerc i se  s i gn i f i cant  in f luence over  the  par ty
in  mak ing  f inanc ia l  and operat ing  dec i s ions , or  v ice  versa , or  where the  Group or
the Company and the par ty  are  sub ject  to  common contro l  or  common s ign i f i cant
inf luence . Related part ies may be individuals or other entit ies .

The Group has related party relationships with the followings:

i) Subsidiaries and associate of the Company as disclosed in the f inancial statements.

i i ) C o m p a n i e s  i n  w h i c h  a  D i r e c t o r, M r. L i m  S o o n  H u a t  a n d  h i s  c l o s e  f a m i l y
m e m b e r s  col lect ive ly  have control l ing interests  are As ia  Educat iona l  Suppl ies
Sdn.Bhd. (“AESSB”) and Khyam Seng Print ing Sdn. Bhd. (“KSPSB”).

i i i ) Company  in  wh ich  a  D i rec tor, Mr. L im Soon  Huat  has  subs tan t i a l  f i nanc i a l
interests is Dynamic Office Sdn. Bhd.(“DOSB”)

iv ) Key management personnel of the Group :

Key  management  per sonne l  a re  de f i ned  a s  those  per sons  hav ing  au thor i t y
and respons ib i l i ty  for  p lann ing , d irect ing  and contro l l ing  the act iv i t ies  o f  the
Group e i ther d irect ly  or ind irect ly. The key management personnel  inc lude a l l
the Directors of the Group.

GROUP / COMPANY

10,036,296

6,084,608

16,120,904

Paid :
   - Final dividend of 20% less 27% tax (2007 :
      20% less 28% tax) on 68,267,900 (2007 :
      69,696,500) ordinary shares of RM1 each

Declared :
    - Interim dividend of 10% less 25% tax (2007 :
     12% less 27% tax) on 113,364,180 (2007 :
     69,459,000) ordinary shares of RM1 each

2007
RM

2008
RM

9,967,113

8,502,314

18,469,427
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

28. RELATED PARTIES - GROUP/COMPANY (Cont’d)

c ) Transact ions with key management personnel  :

Key management personnel compensation is disclosed in Note 23 to the financial
statements.

The  aggrega te  amount  o f  t ransac t ions  re l a t ing  to  key  management  personne l
and entity over which they have control or significant influence were as follows:

2007
RM

2008
RM

Transactions amount for the year
ended 31 March

Group

Consultancy fee paid to a Company in which
    a Director of a subsidiary has substantial
    financial interest
Rental paid to
    - a Director of the Company
    - a Director of a subsidiary

300,983

4,800
9,600

323,190

-
-

b ) Transact ions entered by the Group in the ordinary course of  bus iness with
compan ies  in  which  a  Director  and h i s  c lose  fami ly  members  co l lect ive ly
have controlling interests are as follows :

2007
RM

2008
RM

Transactions amount for the year
ended 31 March

Sales

Purchases

Management fee receivable - DOSB

- AESSB
- KSPSB
- DOSB

- AESSB
- KSPSB
- DOSB

403,000
30,000
2,300

16,000
1,100

57,000

386,000
50,000
3,000

13,000
-

57,000

6,000 6,000

The s igni f icant related par ty transact ions of the Group and the Company, other than key
management personnel  compensat ion, are as  fo l low :

a ) Transact ions entered by subs id iar ies  in  the ord inar y course of  bus iness  with an
associate , Mefa jaya Sdn. Bhd.

2007
RM

2008
RM

Transactions amount for the year
ended 31 March

- Management fee receivable
- Sales

4,800
612,000

4,800
704,000
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

28. RELATED PARTIES - GROUP/COMPANY (Cont’d)

There was no amount outstanding as at 31 March 2008 and 2007 on the above transactions.

The above transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business and have
been established under negotiated terms.

Non-trade balances with subsidiaries are disclosed in Notes 10 and 18 to the financial
statements.

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES - COMPANY

i ) Corporate guarantee

Unsecured

The Company has  g iven corporate guarantees to cer ta in  f inanc ia l  inst i tut ions
for banking facilities granted to its subsidiaries for RM78,700,000 (2007 : RM58,700,000)
of which RM20,836,000 (2007 : RM302,000) was utilised at balance sheet date.

i i ) The Company has undertaken to provide financial support to one of its subsidiaries
to enable it to continue operating as a going concern.

30. LEASE COMMITMENT - GROUP

Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows :

2007
RM

2008
RM

Less than 1 year

Between 1 and 5 years

1,808,000

4,632,000

1,941,000

6,915,000

The Group leases two properties under operating lease arrangements. The leases run
for periods ranging from four to ten years and do not include contingent rentals.

29. CAPITAL COMMITMENT - GROUP

2007
RM

2008
RM

Property, plant and equipment

                Contracted but not provided for 19,211,336 4,677,000
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

32. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION - GROUP

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical
segments. The primary format, business segments, is based on the Group’s management and
internal reporting structure.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Business segment

The Group is principally involved in the manufacture and trading of stationery products.
Business segmental information has therefore not been prepared as the Group’s revenue,
operating profit, assets employed, liabilities, capital expenditure, depreciation and amortisation
as well as non-cash expenses are mainly confined to one business segment.

Geographical segments

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based
on the geographical location of customers. Segment assets are based on the geographical
location of assets.

2008

Revenue from
                external
                   customers

Segment assets

Capital
                expenditure

2007

Revenue from
                external
                   customers

Segment assets

Capital
                expenditure

Malaysia
RM

Asia
(excluding
Malaysia)

RM
Europe

RM
America

RM
Others

RM
Consolidated

RM

38,604,371

208,075,824

10,865,927

36,197,076

176,732,564

8,059,134

8,643,734

1,545,870

-

16,542,549

2,278,214

-

107,903,968

106,291,509

2,390,395

47,532,620

28,687,386

568,373

39,155,419

-

-

25,058,943

-

-

14,109,127

-

-

7,101,947

-

-

208,416,619

315,913,203

13,256,322

132,433,135

207,698,164

8,627,507

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial risk management objectives and policies

It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative transactions. Exposure to credit risk,
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk arise in the normal course of the
Group’s business. The Group’s risk management is basically guided and monitored by the
Board of Directors as summarised below :
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Credit risk

The Group has an informal credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored
on an ongoing basis through the management reporting procedures. Credit evaluations
are carried out on all customers requiring credit facility. Delivery of goods is controlled
by the system based on the approved credit term and credit period. Personal guarantors
may be requested based on the discretion of the management. The Group considers the
risk of material loss in the event of non-performance by customers to be minimal.

Credit risk arising from the Group’s investing activities is believed to be minimal as the
Group and the Company places their excess funds with reputable and creditworthy
licensed banks and financial institutions, including through a fund management company,
in the form of fixed deposits and investments in shares.

At balance sheet date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk other than
the following :

Amount due from
   subsidiaries 123,096,097

2008
RM

COMPANY

2007
RM

96,900,115

Interest rate risk

The Group’s financial position does not really require it to source for any major external
funding. However, the Group has entered into certain fixed and floating interest rate borrowings
to finance its operations. The majority of the Group’s excess funds is placed with reputable
licensed banks and licensed financial institutions to generate interest income for the Group.
In addition, the Group also invested some of its funds in unit trusts, structured products
and bond funds and/or placed it with a fund management company which has a credible
investment record and adopts a prudent approach.

Foreign currency risk

The Group derives its foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated
in currencies other than Ringgit Malaysia. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily
US dollars, Euro, Sterling pound, Singapore dollars and Swiss Francs.

Liquidity risk

The Company manages its l iquidity and cash f low risks through prudent l iquidity risk
management by maintaining suff ic ient cash and marketable securit ies and ensuring the
availabil ity of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit faci l it ies.

Effective interest rates and repricing analysis

In respect of interest-earning f inancial assets and interest-bearing f inancial l iabil it ies, the
fol lowing table indicates their  e f fect ive interest  rates at  the ba lance sheet date and
the period in which they reprice or mature, whichever is earlier.
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Group

2008

Financial assets

Fixed rate instruments

Short term deposits with
   licensed banks
Fixed rates unquoted non-
   convertible corporate

                bonds

Financial liabilities

Fixed rate instrument

Finance lease liabilities

Floating rate instruments

Bank overdrafts
Foreign currency loan
Term loan

2007

Financial assets

Fixed rate instruments

Short term deposits with
   licensed banks
Deposits placed under
   investment portfolio

Group

2007

Financial liabilities

Floating rate instruments

Bank overdrafts
Foreign currency loan

Company

2008

Financial asset

Fixed rate instrument

Short term deposits with
   licensed banks

3.40

6.30

5.27 - 6.00

8.50
3.12

4.01 - 5.35

3.35

3.33

8.50
5.80

3.06

51,478

1,009

1,667

2,011
3,662

28,300

61,580

3,662

302
111

4,249

51,478

1,009

460

2,011
3,662

28,300

61,580

3,662

302
111

4,249

-

-

1,207

-
-
-

-

-

-
-

-

-

-

-

-
-
-

-

-

-
-

-

Effective
interest rate
per annum %

Total
RM’000

Within 1
year

RM’000

1-5
years

RM’000

After 5
years

RM’000
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Fair values

Recognised financial instruments

The carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the relatively short term nature of cash
and cash equivalents, receivables, payables as well as short term bank borrowings.

The aggregate fair value of the other financial assets and liabilities carried on the balance
sheet as at year end is shown below :

Effective
interest rate
per annum %

Total
RM’000

Within 1
year

RM’000

1-5
years

RM’000

After 5
years

RM’000

 2007

Financial asset

Fixed rate instrument

Short term deposits with
                licensed banks 3.16 7,617 7,617 - -

* It is not practical to estimate the fair value of the long term amount due from
subsidiaries. The Company does not anticipate the carrying amount recorded at
the balance sheet date to be signi f icantly di f ferent from the values that would
eventually be settled.

Group

Financial assets

Unquoted non-
    convertible corporate
    bonds
Deposits placed under
   investment portfolio
Investment in quoted
   securities

Financial liabilities

Term loans
Finance lease liabilities

Company

Financial asset

Amount due from
                subsidiaries

2008

Carrying
amount
RM’000

Fair value
RM’000

Carrying
amount
RM’000

Fair value
RM’000

2007�

1,009

-

-

28,300
1,667

44,315

1,005

-

-

28,300
#

*

-

3,662

1,606

-
-

44,315

-

3,662

1,665

-
-

*
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

# It is not practicable to estimate the fair value of the finance lease l iabil it ies due
to lack of information on discount rate and the inabi l i ty to est imate the fa ir
value without incurring excessive cost. However the Directors believe that there
i s  no s i gn i f i cant  d i f ference between the  f a i r  va lue  and the  book va lue  o f
these financial liabilities.

The fa ir  va lues of  the quoted securit ies , quoted bonds and corporate bonds
are their quoted market value at the balance sheet date without deducting any
transaction cost.

Unrecognised financial instruments

There were no unrecognised financial instruments at balance sheet date.

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

Business combination

On 1 January 2008, the Group completed the acquisit ion of al l the shares in Plastoreg
Smidt  GmbH & Co. KG and P lastoreg Smidt  Verwaltungs GmbH for RM67,157,133
satisfied in cash. The subsidiary is involved in manufacturing and distribution of dividers

 and indices . For the 3 months to 31 March 2008 the subs id iar y contr ibuted prof i t
a fter tax of  RM2,752,375 to the Group. I f  the acquis i t ion had occurred on 1 Apri l
2007, management estimates that consolidated revenue would have been RM312 mill ion
and consol idated prof it  after tax for the year would have been RM49 mil l ion.

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities on acquisition date :

Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based on applicable FRSs immediately
before the acquisition. The values of assets and liabil ities recognised on acquisition are
their estimated fair values.

The goodwi l l  recognised on the acquis i t ion is  attr ibutable main ly to the potent ia l
earning performance and the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the Company
in the Group’s existing business in Europe.

Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings
Payables
Deferred tax liabilities

Goodwill on acquisition

Consideration paid
Cash acquired

Net cash outflow

Pre-acquisition
carrying amounts

RM

Fair value
adjustments

RM

Recognised value
on acquisition

RM

23,207,924
13,581,483
19,760,281
5,514,283

(8,709,619)
(26,182,238)

-

27,172,114

11,571,037
-
-
-
-
-

(1,820,474)

9,750,563

34,778,961
13,581,483
19,760,281
5,514,283

(8,709,619)
(26,182,238)
(1,820,474)

36,922,677

30,234,456

67,157,133
(5,514,283)

61,642,850
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

35. EFFECTS OF COMPLIANCE WITH FRSs

The accounting policies set out in Note 2 have been applied in preparing the financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 March 2008.

The effect arising from the adoption of FRS 117, Leases is summarised below :

FRS 117

Prepaid lease payments previous ly c lass i f ied under proper ty, p lant and equipment is
now disclosed as a separate l ine  i tem on the face o f  the consol idated ba lance sheet
within non-current assets.Comparatives have been reclassif ied accordingly.

This change does not have any impact on earnings per ordinary share.

36. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified as a result of the effects as stated in Note 35.

As
restated

RM

GROUP
2007

As
previously

stated
RM

Balance sheet

Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments

Income statement and cash flow
statement

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on prepaid lease payments

50,715,898
1,872,829

4,927,077
38,875

52,588,727
-

4,965,952
-

37. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR

37.1 Establishment of a new Employees’ share option scheme (“ESOS”)

At an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) held on 20 April 2007, the shareholders
approved the establ ishment of a new ESOS  replacing the previous ESOS that
expired on 25 March 2007.

37.2 Bonus issue and increased in authorised share capital

On 3 December 2007, the shareholders of the Company in an EGM unanimously
approved the following :

(i) increase of the Company authorised capital from 100,000,000 ordinary shares of
     RM1 each to 500,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each; and

(ii) bonus issue of up to 42,609,300 new ordinary shares of RM1 each on the basis
    of three (3) new ordinary shares for every five (5) existing ordinary shares held.
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NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  (CONT�D)

37. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR (Cont’d)

The bonus issue was completed on 4 January 2008 with the issuance of 42,500,280
ordinary shares of RM1 each, capita l ised from share premium and retained earnings
of RM7,504,744 and RM34,995,536 respectively.

37.3 Acquisition of Plastoreg SG and Plastoreg SV

On 1 January 2008, Asia File Products Sdn. Bhd. (“AFP”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company completed the acquisition of :

( i) 100% of the f ixed capital in Plastoreg Smidt GmbH & Co. KG (“Plastoreg SG”)
               for  a  cash cons iderat ion o f  Euro13,825 ,000 , equ iva lent  to RM67,272 ,450 ;

     and

(ii) 100% of the share capital in Plastoreg Smidt Verwaltungs GmbH (“Plastoreg SV”)
                         for a cash consideration of Euro25,000, equivalent to RM121,650.

Both Plastoreg SG and Plastoreg SV were incorporated in Germany. Upon the
comp le t i on  o f  t he  a cqu i s i t i on , t he  opera t i on s  and  f i n anc i a l  repor t i n g  o f
Plastoreg SG and Plastoreg SV were merged into a single entity known as Plastoreg
Smidt GmbH.

38. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 17 July 2008, the Company together with one of i ts whol ly owned subsidiar ies
successfully completed the acquisition of a total of 58,000,000 shares of RM0.50 each
of Muda Holdings Bhd. (“MUDA”) for a total cash consideration of RM44,539,017 from
the open market.  Subsequent to the acquisition, MUDA became an associate company
of the Group with the Group effective equity interest of 20.36%.
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LIST  OF   PROPERTIES   OWNED   BY   THE   GROUP

Office, Factory
cum warehouse

Rented

12,230

1,761 60-year
lease
expiring on
10-10-2055

60-year
lease
expiring on
09-09-2051

13

13

11,026

1,087

June 1994
(Land)

June 1995
(First Building) (*)

March 2000
(Second Building) (*)

April 2000 (*)

P.T. No 1870 (Plot 16)
Hilir Sungai Keluang 2
Bayan Lepas Industrial Estate
(Phase IV) Mukim 12
Daerah Barat Daya
Penang

No 5, Lorong Perindustrian
Bukit Minyak 3
Taman Perindustrian
Bukit Minyak, 14100
Bukit Mertajam, Penang

2)

4)

Office, Factory
cum warehouse

27,688.91 Freehold 17 13,312 March 2004 (*)Lot 1310, Mukim 14,
Daerah Seberang Prai Tengah,
Penang

6)

Factory
cum warehouse

2,442 Freehold 17 7,096 June 1994No 81 & 81A
Jalan Sungai Pinang
Lots P 1473-1476,
Section 9-W, Georgetown
Daerah Timur-Laut
Penang

1)

DESCRIPTION LAND AREA
(sq. meters)

TENURE AGE
(years)

NET BOOK
VALUE
(RM’000)

DATE OF
REVALUATION/

ACQUISITION(*)

LOCATION

Rented 1,761 60-year
lease
expiring on
10-10-2055

13 996 April 2000 (*)No 7, Lorong Perindustrian
Bukit Minyak 3
Taman Perindustrian
Bukit Minyak, 14100
Bukit Mertajam, Penang

5)

Office, Factory
cum warehouse

2,023 Freehold 2 2,591 April 2004 (*)PT 43263, H.S.(D) 128696
Mukim Petaling,
Daerah Petaling, Selangor

7)

Office, Factory,
Warehouse

11,983 Freehold 35 6,728 January 2008Kasseler Landstraße 12
D-37213 Witzenhausen
Germany

8)

Office, Factory,
Warehouse

21,840 Freehold 17 7,820 January 2008Zur Furthmühle 4
D-37318 Kirchgandern
Germany

9)

Office, Factory
cum warehouse

372 Freehold 14 512 February 1997 (*)42, Jalan Seroja 3917
Taman Johor Jaya
81100 Johor
H.S.(D) 101482
PTD 64016 Mukim Plentong

3)
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SHAREHOLDING  STATISTICS  -  AS  AT  6  AUGUST  2008

^  Deemed interest via Prestige Elegance (M) Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

Name % of Issued
Share Capital

(exclude
treasury shares)

No. of Shares

Direct
Interest

Deemed
Interest

1. Datin Khoo Saw Sim
2. Lim Soon Huat
3. Prestige Elegance (M) Sdn Bhd
4. Arisaig Asean Fund
5. NTAsian Discovery Master Fund

47.4430
46.6899
46.0203
11.5127
5.9894

1,617,920
761,491

52,336,837
13,092,920
6,811,520

52,336,837^
52,336,837^

-
-
-

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
- As at 6 August 2008

BREAKDOWN OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of
Shareholdings

No. of
Shareholders

% of Issued
Share Capital

No. of
Shares

Less than 100
100 - 1,000
1,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 - 5,688,636
5,688,637 - 113,772,740

16
153
651
162
48
3

0.000
0.096
2.247
3.581

30.564
63.512

554
109,384

2,556,181
4,074,625

34,773,119
72,258,877

1,033 100.000113,772,740TOTAL

AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL : RM500,000,000/=
ISSUED AND FULLY PAID UP CAPITAL : RM113,772,740/= (inclusive 47,200 treasury shares)
CLASS OF SHARE : Ordinary shares of RM1/= each fully paid
VOTING RIGHT : On a show of hands - one vote for every shareholder

 On a poll - one vote for every ordinary share held
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52,425,637^
  19,520*

-
-

 152,320**
-

Ordinary shares of RM1/= each

Direct
Interest

Deemed
Interest

761,491
-

64,000
-

2,479,825
2,557,403

SHAREHOLDING  STATISTICS  -  AS  AT  6  AUGUST  2008

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 6 AUGUST 2008

Name of Director % of issued
Share Capital

(exclude
treasury shares)

No. of unexercised
ESOS options

The Company

46.7680
0.0172
0.0563

-
2.3145
2.2487

-
  40,000

56,000
40,000

320,000
-

Lim Soon Huat
Ooi Ean Chin
Khoo Khai Hong
Nurjannah Binti Ali
Lim Soon Wah
Lim Soon Hee (Alternate to
Khoo Khai Hong)

^ Deemed interest via Prestige Elegance (M) Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965 and
inclusive interests of spouse and children

* These shares are held in the name of spouse and children and are treated as interest of the Director in
accordance with Section 134(12c) of the Companies Act, 1965.

** These shares are held in the name of spouse and are treated as interest of the Director in accordance with
Section 134(12c) of the Companies Act, 1965.

Note : By virtue of his deemed interest in the Company, Mr. Lim Soon Huat is deemed to have interest
         in the shares of the subsidiaries to the extent the Company has an interest.



9 5

SHAREHOLDING  STATISTICS  -  AS  AT  6  AUGUST  2008 (CONT�D)

THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 6  AUGUST 2008

No. of
Shares

% of Issued
Share CapitalName

52,336,837

13,092,920

6,829,120

3,796,500

2,560,000

2,557,403

2,479,825

2,400,000

2,199,600

1,855,700

1,617,920

1,556,480

1,533,120

864,000

849,920

829,200

46.0203

11.5127

6.0049

3.3383

2.2510

2.2487

2.1805

2.1103

1.9341

1.6317

1.4227

1.3686

1.3481

0.7597

0.7473

0.7291

1. PRESTIGE ELEGANCE (M) SDN BHD

2. HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
HSBC-FS FOR ARISAIG ASEAN FUND LIMITED

3. HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
EXEMPT AN FOR THE HONGKONG AND SHANGHAI
BANKING CORPORATION LIMITED (HBFS-B CLT 500)

4. PERMODALAN NASIONAL BERHAD

5. MALAYSIA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
GREAT EASTERN LIFE ASSURANCE (MALAYSIA)
BERHAD (PAR 1)

6. LIM SOON HEE

7. LIM SOON WAH

8. LIM SIEW EAN

9. EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD

10. AMANAH RAYA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
SKIM AMANAH SAHAM BUMIPUTERA

11. KHOO SAW SIM

12. MALAYSIA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
GREAT EASTERN LIFE ASSURANCE (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
(PAR 2)

13. CARTABAN NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
NORDEA BANK FINLAND PLC FOR POPULUS MUTUAL 
FUND

14. MAYBAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
AVENUE INVEST BERHAD FOR KUMPULAN WANG
AMANAH PENCEN (E00170-220136)

15. GOH PHAIK NGOH

16. AMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
AMTRUSTEE BERHAD FOR  HLG PENNY STOCK FUND
(UT-HLG-PSF)
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THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 6  AUGUST 2008

No. of
Shares

% of Issued
Share CapitalName

800,000

761,491

714,720

557,440

522,240

488,000

480,000

480,000

387,460

358,720

230,600

224,000

215,600

214,400

103,793,216

0.7034

0.6696

0.6285

0.4902

0.4592

0.4291

0.4221

0.4221

0.3407

0.3154

0.2028

0.1970

0.1896

0.1885

91.2664

17. CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
UNI.ASIA LIFE ASSURANCE BERHAD (LIFE FUND)

18. LIM SOON HUAT

19. CHEAH SOK IN

20. OOI HOOI KIAN

21. FOO NIAN CHOU

22. HLG NOMINEE (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
HLG ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD FOR HONG LEONG
ASSURANCE BHD (GROWTH FUND)

23. MAYBAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
MAYBAN TRUSTEES BHD FOR AMANAH SAHAM WANITA
(N14011980040)

24. CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
EXEMPT AN FOR PRUDENTIAL FUND MANAGEMENT
BERHAD

25. OSK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BERHAD
EXEMPT AN FOR OSK ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD

26. GOH PHAIK NGOH

27. WEE KEW SING

28. AMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
AMTRUSTEE BERHAD FOR  HLG DIVIDEND FUND
(UT-HLG-DIV)

29. HLG NOMINEE (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
HLG ASSET MANAGEMENT SDN BHD FOR PROGRAM
PERTUKARAN FELLOWSHIP PERDANA MENTERI
MALAYSIA (1085)

30. BEH PHAIK HOOI

TOTAL

SHAREHOLDING  STATISTICS  -  AS  AT  6  AUGUST  2008 (CONT�D)
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PROXY  FORM

ASIA FILE CORPORATION BHD (313192P)

I/We  ..... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . of
.................................................................................................................................... being a member/members of the above
named Company, hereby appoint
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . of
............................................................................................................................... ................... or failing him
............................................................................................................................... ........................................... of
.................................................................................................................................................. as my/our proxy, to vote for me/us
and on my/our behalf at the FOURTEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company to be held at
Merbah 1 Room, Hotel Equatorial, No. 1, Jalan Bukit Jambul, 11900 Penang on Tuesday, 30 September 2008 at
10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

   NO RESOLUTIONS                    FOR               AGAINST

     1. Ordinary Resolution 1

     2. Ordinary Resolution 2

     3. Ordinary Resolution 3

     4. Ordinary Resolution 4

     5. Ordinary Resolution 5

     6. Ordinary Resolution 6

     7. Ordinary Resolution 7

     8. Ordinary Resolution 8

(Please indicate with “X” how you wish your vote to be cast. If no specific direction as to voting is given,
the proxy will vote or abstain at his discretion).

Signed this .............................day of September, 2008

                    No. Of Ordinary Shares Held
.....................................................
Signature of Shareholder

Notes:

1. A member may appoint up to 2 proxies to attend on the same occasion. A proxy may but
need not be a Member of the Company and a Member may appoint any person to be his
proxy. If a Member appoints 2 proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies
the proportions of his holdings to be represented by each proxy.

2. Where a Member of the Company is an authorised nominee as def ined under the
Central Depositories Act, it may appoint at least one (1) proxy in respect of each securities
account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said
securities account.

3. If the appointor is a corporation, the proxy form must be executed under the seal or
under the hand of its officer or attorney duly authorised in writing.

4. To be valid, the proxy form must be deposited at the Company’s Registered Office at Suite 2-1,
2nd Floor, Menara Penang Garden, 42A Jalan Sultan Ahmad Shah, 10050 Penang, not less
than forty-eight(48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.
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